#### UNIDROIT

International Institute for the Unification of Private Law

# GUIDE TO INTERNATIONAL MASTER FRANCHISE ARRANGEMENTS

(SECOND EDITION)

Rome 2007

# Suggested form of citation : UNIDROIT Franchising Guide (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.)

Published by the International Institute for the Unification of Private Law (UNIDROIT) Via Panisperna, 28 - 00184 Rome - ITALY

ISBN: 88-86449-16-X Copyright © UNIDROIT 2007

#### FOREWORD TO THE SECOND EDITION

Almost ten years have passed since the publication of the first edition of the UNIDROIT *Guide to International Master Franchise Arrangements*. The volume was welcomed, and over the years acquired recognition as both authoritative and a very useful guide for practitioners and others involved in franchising. Despite its age, it is still in demand, but the Institute is no longer in a position to satisfy such orders as it has sold out.

Taking the opportunity offered by the necessity to reprint the Guide, it was decided that an update should be made of those chapters that contained information on international conventions, other international instruments and national legislation. The chapters that have been updated are therefore the following:

Chapter 10 "Intellectual Property"

Chapter 11 "Know-How and Trade Secrets"

Chapter 17 "Applicable Law and Dispute Resolution"

Annex 2 "Franchising in the Economy"

Annex 3 "Legislation and Regulations Relevant to Franchising".

We are most grateful to the authors for their assistance in the updating of their chapters and to the other members of the Study Group for taking the time needed to examine the changes made. A special thank you goes to Ms Lena Peters both as author/editor and coordinator.

Herbert Kronke Secretary-General Berardino Libonati President

Rome, July 2007

#### FOREWORD TO THE FIRST EDITION

The International Institute for the Unification of Private Law (UNIDROIT) is pleased to offer this Guide to International Master Franchise Arrangements to the international legal and business communities. By doing so, it aims to make a contribution to an understanding of this important business method, which, firmly established in a number of market economies, is spreading into and assuming an ever greater role also in an increasing number of countries with mixed or State economies.

International franchising is in fact playing an ever greater role in introducing commercial know-how into countries with developing economies or with economies in transition. Such micro-economic reform complements the large scale international economic and financial changes being brought about by the rapid spread of globalised commercial and industrial development. International franchising is playing a vital role in ensuring the productive transfer of technology and enhanced levels of foreign investment that are so important to developing and emerging economies.

This publication is the outcome of the work of the Study Group on Franchising set up by the Governing Council of UNIDROIT in 1993. Supported by a group of franchising advisors from national and international non-governmental organisations and staff of the Institute's Secretariat, the Study Group was able to bring its work to fruition in 1998, when it submitted the Guide to the Governing Council of the Institute with the request that it authorise the publication thereof. That the Governing Council was able to endorse the publication of the Guide with enthusiasm is due to the high quality of the work of all those involved. We express gratitude and pay tribute to the members of the Study Group and the advisers for sharing their expertise, for their constant efforts and for the enthusiasm with which they approached their task. We also wish to thank the other practising lawyers, judges, civil servants and academics from different legal cultures and backgrounds who made contributions during the various stages of the project.

Particular recognition needs to be afforded the contribution of Committee X, the International Franchising Committee of the International Bar Association, without whose close collaboration in the form of the active participation of a number of its prominent members in the work of the Study Group, this Guide would not have been completed.

All of those involved wish to acknowledge the particular role played by Ms Lena Peters who held the whole project together and contributed so much to researching, to the writing of the drafts and the final editing of the publication.

Finally, the Governing Council of the Institute was heartened by reports of the interested anticipation in the publication of the Guide shown by the franchising community in so many countries. It is with satisfaction that we announce that translations into the major languages of the world are in preparation and will be made available to the international community at the earliest opportunity.

Walter Rodinò Secretary-General *a.i.*  Luigi Ferrari Bravo President

Rome, August 1998

### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Foreword to the Second Edition	V
Foreword to the First Edition	vii
The UNIDROIT Governing Council (1998)	xxi
Members of the Study Goup (1998)	xxiii
Executive Summary	XXV
INTRODUCTION	xxxi
CHAPTER 1 FUNDAMENTAL CONCEPTS AND ELEMENTS	1
A. Master Franchise Agreements and Other Commercial Vehicles	2
I. Master Franchise Agreements	
(a) Principal Benefits of Master Franchising	2
(b) Common Problems associated with Master Franchising	5
(1) Limited control of Franchisor over Franchise Network	5
(2) Problems with Terminating Master Franchise Agreements	6
(3) Sharing of Income derived from Fees	7
II. Franchise Agreements and Other Agreements	8
(a) Commercial Agency Agreements	8
(b) Distribution Agreements	9
(c) Licence Agreements	10
(d) Transfer of Technology Agreements	11
III. Methods to Franchise Internationally	11
Direct Franchising	13
(1) Unit Franchising	13
(2) Development Agreements	13
IV. Area Representation Agreements	14
B. Expanding Internationally: Selecting the Appropriate Vehicle and	
Negotiating the Agreement	15
I. Factors to Consider when Determining the Most Appropriate	
Vehicle	15
(a) Objective Factors	15
(1) The Market	15
(2) Cultural Considerations	16
(3) The Legal Environment	16
(b) Subjective Factors	17
(1) The Nature of the Business	17
(2) Economic Circumstances Affecting the Choice of a Vehicle	17

(3) The Experience of the Parties	18
(4) The Division of Responsibilities and Revenue	18
(5) Control	19
(6) The Risk Factor	20
(i) Risk Factors to be considered by the Franchisor	21
(α) External Risk Factors	21
(β) Internal Risk Factors	21
(ii) Risk Factors to be considered by the Sub-Franchisor	22
II. The Selection of a Sub-Franchisor	22
III. The Selection of a Franchise by a Prospective Sub-Franchisor	23
IV. Negotiating International Agreements	24
V. Drafting International Franchise Agreements	25
(a) Language of the Agreement and of the Other Documents	27
(b) Drafting Technique	29
(1) Civil Law Legal Systems	29
(2) Common Law Legal Systems	30
(c) Drafting Alternatives	31
VI. Internationalising the Franchise System	31
VII. Subsequent Changes	33
CHAPTER 2 NATURE AND EXTENT OF RIGHTS GRANTED AND	
CHAPTER 2 NATURE AND EXTENT OF RIGHTS GRANTED AND RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES	34
RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES	
RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES  A. What is Granted	<b>34</b> 35 35
A. What is Granted	35
RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES  A. What is Granted I. System II. Trademarks	35 35
RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES  A. What is Granted I. System II. Trademarks	35 35 36
RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES  A. What is Granted I. System II. Trademarks III. Other Intellectual Property Rights	35 35 36 37
RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES  A. What is Granted I. System II. Trademarks III. Other Intellectual Property Rights  B. How the Licensed Assets May be Used	35 35 36 37 37
RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES  A. What is Granted I. System II. Trademarks III. Other Intellectual Property Rights  B. How the Licensed Assets May be Used C. Where the Rights May be Employed	35 35 36 37 37 38
RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES  A. What is Granted I. System II. Trademarks III. Other Intellectual Property Rights  B. How the Licensed Assets May be Used C. Where the Rights May be Employed D. Exclusivity v. Non-Exclusivity	35 36 37 37 38 39
RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES  A. What is Granted I. System III. Trademarks IIII. Other Intellectual Property Rights  B. How the Licensed Assets May be Used  C. Where the Rights May be Employed  D. Exclusivity v. Non-Exclusivity  E. The Three-Tiered Structure of Master Franchise Arrangements  F. Direct Contractual Relations	35 35 36 37 37 38 39 41
RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES  A. What is Granted I. System II. Trademarks III. Other Intellectual Property Rights  B. How the Licensed Assets May be Used C. Where the Rights May be Employed D. Exclusivity v. Non-Exclusivity E. The Three-Tiered Structure of Master Franchise Arrangements F. Direct Contractual Relations	35 35 36 37 37 38 39 41
RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES  A. What is Granted I. System II. Trademarks III. Other Intellectual Property Rights  B. How the Licensed Assets May be Used C. Where the Rights May be Employed D. Exclusivity v. Non-Exclusivity E. The Three-Tiered Structure of Master Franchise Arrangements F. Direct Contractual Relations  CHAPTER 3 TERM OF THE AGREEMENT AND CONDITIONS OF RENEWAL	35 36 37 37 38 39 41 44
RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES  A. What is Granted I. System III. Trademarks IIII. Other Intellectual Property Rights B. How the Licensed Assets May be Used C. Where the Rights May be Employed D. Exclusivity v. Non-Exclusivity E. The Three-Tiered Structure of Master Franchise Arrangements F. Direct Contractual Relations  CHAPTER 3 TERM OF THE AGREEMENT AND CONDITIONS OF RENEWAL  A. Length of the Term of the Agreement	35 36 37 37 38 39 41 44
RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES  A. What is Granted I. System III. Trademarks IIII. Other Intellectual Property Rights B. How the Licensed Assets May be Used C. Where the Rights May be Employed D. Exclusivity v. Non-Exclusivity E. The Three-Tiered Structure of Master Franchise Arrangements F. Direct Contractual Relations  CHAPTER 3 TERM OF THE AGREEMENT AND CONDITIONS OF RENEWAL  A. Length of the Term of the Agreement	35 36 37 37 38 39 41 44
RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES  A. What is Granted I. System III. Trademarks IIII. Other Intellectual Property Rights B. How the Licensed Assets May be Used C. Where the Rights May be Employed D. Exclusivity v. Non-Exclusivity E. The Three-Tiered Structure of Master Franchise Arrangements F. Direct Contractual Relations  CHAPTER 3 TERM OF THE AGREEMENT AND CONDITIONS OF RENEWAL  A. Length of the Term of the Agreement I. Long Terms	35 35 36 37 37 38 39 41 44 <b>47</b> 47

CHAPTER 4 FINANCIAL MATTERS	51
A. What Provides Income? B. The Sources of Income of the Franchisor I. Initial Master Franchise Fees II. Continuing Franchise Fees C. The Sources of Income available to Sub-Franchisors I. Initial and Continuing Fees II. Product Mark Ups III. Payments from Producers or Suppliers	51 51 51 54 55 55 57 58
D. Calculation of Payments and Procedures E. Fiscal Considerations	59 61
CHAPTER 5 THE ROLE OF THE FRANCHISOR	63
A. Obligation to Provide Information	65
I. Initial Information	65
II. Ongoing Information	66
B. Training	66
I. Initial Training	66
II. Ongoing Training	68
III. Obligations that arise as a Result of Unsuccessful Training	•
C. Manuals	69
I. Franchise Unit Manuals and Sub-Franchisor Manuals II. Adaptations and Changes	69 70
II. Adaptations and Changes  D. Assistance and Other Services	70 72
I. Initial Assistance	72
II. Ongoing Assistance	73
III. Assistance to the Sub-Franchisees	74
E. Other Obligations of the Franchisor	75
I. Supply of Goods	75
II. Promotion	75
III. Protection of Trademarks	75
IV. Other Special Obligations	75
F. Rights of the Franchisor	76
CHAPTER 6 THE ROLE OF THE SUB-FRANCHISOR	77
A. Pilot Operations	77
B. Development Schedule	78
C. Renewal of Development Schedules	81
D. Operational Obligations	82
E. Language Issues	85

CHA	PTER 7	THE SUB-FRANCHISE AGREEMENT	86
Α.	Standard	ion: Compliance with the Stipulations of a Prescribed Form Contract	88
B.		Option: Prescription of a Specific Structure including ndatory Provisions	90
C.	Compliar	nce of the Sub-Franchise Agreement with the Laws of	
_	the Host	<b>5</b>	93
D. E.	Commun	nent of the Sub-Franchise Agreement vication with and System Improvements proposed by	93
г	Sub-Franc		94
F.		f Forum and Choice of Law	95
CHA	PTER 8	ADVERTISING AND THE CONTROL OF ADVERTISING	97
Α.	Approval	and Use of Advertising Materials	98
I.		ving All Materials	99
II.		ing Advertising Guidelines or Standards	100
B.	Translatio		100
С.		Considerations	101
l.	Source	es of Revenue for Advertising Expenditure	101
11.		g of Costs	102
		ising Funds ement Terms	103 103
	b) Settir		103
		r Contributions	104
	•	ntages	104
	e) Probl	· ·	105
D.	•	act of Master Franchising	105
СНА	PTER 9	SUPPLY OF EQUIPMENT, PRODUCTS AND	
		SERVICES	107
Α.	Nature of	f Products or Services Supplied	108
B.	Sources of	• •	109
C.		or/Sub-Franchisor Relationship	111
D.	Regulation	on of Supply Relationships	112
E.	Contractu	ual Provisions	114
CHA	PTER 10	INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY	118
Α.	Trademai	rks	118
1.		ol by the Franchisor of the Use of the Trademark by	
	the Su	b-Franchisor and the Sub-Franchisees	119

	II.	Infringement by Non-Authorised Third Parties of any of the	
		Franchisor's Trademarks	120
	III.	Infringement Proceedings taken by a Third Party against	
		the Sub-Franchisor	121
	IV.	Unregistered Trademarks	122
	V.	Registered User Agreements	123
	VI.	Sub-Licensing of Trademark	123
	VII.	The International Regulation of Trademarks	125
	(a)	The Paris Convention	125
	(b)	Madrid Agreement	126
	(c)	The WTO Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual	
		Property Rights (TRIPS)	129
	(d)	The Singapore Treaty on the Law of Trademarks	129
	(e)	The European Community Trademark	130
В.	Co	ppyright	131
C	HAPT	ER 11 KNOW-HOW AND TRADE SECRETS	133
Α.	Th	e Functional Role of Know-How in Franchise Agreements	133
В.		now-How, Trade Secrets and Confidential or Undisclosed	
		formation	134
	I.	Secrecy of Know-How	136
	II.	Commercial Value	136
	III.	Steps to Safeguard the Secret	137
C.	W	arranties by Sub-Franchisor and by Franchisor	137
D		e Difference between "Assignment" and "Licensing" of	
	Kr	now-How	137
Ε.	Th	ird Party Acquisition of Knowledge of the Know-How	138
F.	Th	e Communication of Know-How in Master Franchise	
	Αç	greements	139
G	. Pr	otection of Know-How in International Franchise Arrangements	140
Н	. CI	auses in Master Franchise Agreements to Protect Know-How	141
	Ι.	Clauses used to Protect the Know-How for the Duration of the	
		Agreement	141
	(a)	Confidentiality Clauses	141
	(b)	Non-Competition Clauses	142
	(c)	Grant-Back Clauses	143
	(d)	Field of Use Restrictions	144
	II.	Clauses used to Protect the Know-How After the Agreement has	
		come to an End	144
	(a)	Confidentiality Clauses	144
	(b)	Post-Term Non-Competition Clauses	145

	(c)	Know-How developed by the Sub-Franchisor and	
		Sub-Franchisee	146
	(d)	Field of Use Restrictions	146
CI	HAPT	ER 12 SYSTEM CHANGES	147
Α.	Th	ne Role of Change in the Franchise Relationship: An Overview	147
	l.	The Differing Objectives of the Parties	147
	II.	The Life Cycle of a Franchise: How Different Imperatives for	
		Change will Arise at Different Stages of Development of a	
		Franchise	148
	III.	The Special Role of Change in International Relationships	149
В.	Circu	umstances that make Change Likely or Inevitable	150
	I.	External Factors	150
	II.		150
		Sub-Franchisor initiated Changes	151
С.		ne Effect of Legal Principles	151
		ract Law Issues	151
D		spects of the Relationship where Change is most likely to be	
		ecessary	153
	I. , ,	The Nature of the Business	153
	(a)	Location and Nature of Facility	153
		Territorial Rights	153
	(c)		153
		Products and Services offered	153
		Methods of Marketing and Delivery	154
	. 	The External Appearance	154
	(a)	Trademarks/Trade Dress	154
	(b)	Renovation Changes in the Obligations of the Sub Franchiser and	154
	III.	Changes in the Obligations of the Sub-Franchisor and Sub-Franchisees	155
	(0)		155
	(a) (b)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	155
	IV.	Changes in the Scope of the Franchisor's Activities	155
Ε.		echniques for Effecting Change	156
∟.	I.	The Use of the Term of the Agreement	156
	(a)	<u> </u>	156
	(b)	•	156
	II.	Other Techniques	157
	III.	Use of Documents Other Than the Franchise Agreement	157
	IV.	Making Change Dependent on the Occurrence of Objectively	
		Determinable Events	158

	s occurring within the System	158
• •	s occurring as a Consequence of Actions of other	
	hisees	158
	stances that may provide Appropriate Opportunities to	
effect C	•	158
	ranchisor's Desire to Expand	158
(b) Sub-Fi	ranchisor's Desire to Extend Term	159
(c) Sub-Fi	ranchisor's Desire to Transfer	159
(d) Sub-Fi	ranchisor in Default	159
(e) Franci	hisor develops New Product or Service which it is not	
contra	actually obliged to make available to Sub-Franchisor	159
VI. Correct	tive and Enforcement Mechanisms	159
VII. Making	g Changes More Palatable	160
(a) Disclo	osure of Likelihood of Change	160
(b) Ensuri	ing the Practicability of effecting the Changes	160
(c) Induc	ements	160
(d) Assista	ance	161
(e) Limita	ations upon required Changes	161
CHAPTER 13	SALE, ASSIGNMENT AND TRANSFER	162
A. Circumsta	ances giving Rise to a Transfer	163
	I Restructuring	163
	ity or Death	164
III. Insolve		164
	to Terminate the Relationship	164
	o Prevent Unrestricted Transfers by Sub-Franchisors	165
	of Franchising Interests of Franchisor Seldom Restricted	166
	Contractual Approaches	166
	Constitutes a Transfer	166
	ions for Permitting Transfer	167
	f First Refusal	169
· ·	VICARIOUS LIABILITY, INDEMNIFICATION AND	
	INSURANCE	170
A. Vicarious	Liability	170
B. Indemnific		172
	nsibilities of the Sub-Franchisor	172
	nsibilities of the Franchisor	173
•	o Inform	173
,	sibility for Defence	174
iv. Respon	islaming for Dolonoo	. , 4

	٧.	Responsibility of Individuals	174
	VI.	Limits on Representations and Warranties	175
	VII.	. Corresponding Insurance Cover	175
C.	- 1	nsurance	175
	l.	Insurance Obligations of the Sub-Franchisor	175
	II.	Extent of Insurance Obligations	176
	III.	Stepping in of Franchisor	177
	IV.		177
CI	HAP	PTER 15 REMEDIES FOR NON-PERFORMANCE	178
Α.	F	Remedies short of Termination	179
	١.	Remedies available to the Franchisor	179
	II.	Remedies available to the Sub-Franchisor	181
В.	7	Termination	181
	l.	Termination by the Franchisor	181
	Te	ermination of Development Right	183
	II.	Termination by the Sub-Franchisor	186
CI	HAP	PTER 16 THE END OF THE RELATIONSHIP AND ITS	
		CONSEQUENCES	188
Α.	\	Ways in which the Master Franchise Relationship may come	
	(	or be brought to an End	188
	l.	The Term of the Agreement comes to an End	188
	II.	The Agreement is terminated by the Franchisor in Accordance	
		with its Terms	190
	III.	The Agreement is terminated by the Sub-Franchisor in	
		Accordance with its Terms	191
	IV.	9 9	
		Agreement	191
В.		Consequences of the Master Franchise Relationship coming to	
		an End	192
	l.	Consequences for the Sub-Franchisor	192
	II.	Consequences for the Sub-Franchisee	195
	III.	Assignment of the Sub-Franchisor's Rights in the	407
		Sub-Franchises	196
CI	HAP	PTER 17 APPLICABLE LAW AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION	198
Α.	٦	The Desirability of Making a Choice	198
В.	A	Applicable Law	199
	l.	Choice of Applicable Law	199
	II.	Enforceability of Choice	201

TABLE OF CONTENTS	xvii
III. Most Likely Outcome	201
IV. Effects of International Uniform Law	202
C. Dispute Resolution	203
Negotiation, Mediation and Conciliation	203
II. Litigation	206
(a) Choice of Forum	206
(b) Recognition of Choice of Forum Clauses	208
(c) Jurisdiction	211
(d) Enforcement of Court Judgments	212
III. Arbitration	214
(a) The Arbitration Alternative	214
(b) Enforcement of International Commercial Arbitration Awards	216
CHAPTER 18 OTHER GENERALLY USED CLAUSES	217
A. Clauses relating to Severability	217
B. Entire Agreement Clauses	218
C. Waivers	219
D. Force Majeure and Hardship	220
E. Clauses relating to the Nature of the Agreement	223
F. Cumulative Rights	224
G. Notice Provisions	224
H. Damages	224
I. The Preamble to the Agreement	224
J. Implied Obligations	225
CHAPTER 19 ANCILLARY DOCUMENTS	227
A. Documenting Other Relationships	227
B. Description of Ancillary Documents	227
C. The Purposes of Ancillary Documents	229
D. Examples of Ancillary Documents	230
I. Ancillary Documents commonly used with Master Franchise	
Agreements	230
(a) Confidentiality Agreements	230
(b) Non-Competition Agreements	231
(c) Guarantee and Indemnity	232
(d) Transfer Agreements	233
(e) Termination Agreements	233
(f) Release	233
II. Ancillary Documents that may be required for the Franchised	
Business	234
(a) Supply Agreements	234

	(b)	Equipment Purchase or Lease Agreements	235
	(c)	Software Licence Agreements	235
	III.	Ancillary Documents required by the Structure of Certain	
		Transactions	236
	(a)	Letters of Intent	236
	(b)	Joint Venture Agreements	237
	(c)	Agreements on Methods of Payment	238
	(d)	Agreements Evidencing Financing Arrangements	238
	IV.	Ancillary Documents that may be required by Local Law	239
	(a)	Trademark Licence Agreement	239
	(b)	Registered User Agreement	240
CI	HAPT	ER 20 REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS	241
Α.	Ex	amples of Licence and Permit Requirements	242
	l.	Prior Approval	242
	II.	Registration in the Appropriate Registers	242
	III.	Permits required for the Foreign Elements	243
	IV.	Foreign Employees of the Franchisor	244
	V.	Agents of the Franchisor	244
	VI.	Import and Export Licences and other Permits required as a	
		Consequence of Import or Export Restrictions	244
	VII.	Export of Profits and Currency Restrictions	245
	VIII.	Withholding Taxes	245
	IX.	Trade-Specific Requirements	245
В.	W	ho should Obtain the Permits	245
Αl	NNEX	1 FRANCHISING: GENERAL NOTIONS	248
Α.	D	ifferent Forms of Franchising	248
В.	Вι	usiness Format Franchising	249
	l.	Basic Elements	249
	II.	Additional Undertakings	249
C.	Ad	dvantages and Disadvantages of Franchising for the Operators	252
	l.	Advantages for the Franchisee	252
	II.	Disadvantages for the Franchisee	253
	III.	Advantages for the Franchisor	254
	IV.	Disadvantages for the Franchisor	255
Αl	NNEX	72 FRANCHISING IN THE ECONOMY	256
Α.	Th	ne Economic Relevance of Franchising	256
В.		enefits of Franchising to the National Economy	263
	I.	Employment Opportunities	263

IX.

Χ.

France

Georgia

**TABLE OF CONTENTS** 

xix

287

287

XI. Indonesia	288
XII. Italy	289
XIII. Japan	290
XIV. Kazakhstan	290
XV. Lithuania	291
XVI. Malaysia	292
XVII. Mexico	292
XVIII. Moldova	293
XIX. People's Republic of China	294
XX. Republic of Korea	295
XXI. Romania	295
XXII. The Russian Federation	296
XXIII. Spain	297
XXIV. Sweden	298
XXV. Ukraine	299
XXVI. The United States of America	299
XXVII. Vietnam	300
C. The European Union and Franchising	301
<ol> <li>The Franchising Block Exemption Regulation</li> </ol>	302
II. The Vertical Restraints Block Exemption Regulation	303
D. The UNIDROIT Model Franchise Disclosure Law	304
E. Voluntary Regulation of Franchising	306
I. The Code of Ethics of the European Franchise Federation	306
II. Codes of Ethics of National Franchise Associations	307
ANALYTICAL INDEX	309

## THE UNIDROIT GOVERNING COUNCIL (1998)

Ömer I. AKIPEK Turkey
Antonio BOGGIANO Argentina
Isabel de MAGALHÃES COLLAÇO Portugal
Charles R.M. DLAMINI South Africa

E. Allan FARNSWORTH United States of America

Royston M. GOODE United Kingdom

Yasuo HAMASAKI Japan

Arthur S. HARTKAMP Netherlands
Tsvetana KAMENOVA Bulgaria
Roland LOEWE Austria

LYOU Byung-Hwa Republic of Korea

Ferenc MÁDL Hungary Vicente MAROTTA RANGEL Brazil Jörg PIRRUNG Germany Jean-Pierre PLANTARD France Jacques PUTZEYS Belgium Alan D. ROSE Australia Jorge SÁNCHEZ CORDERO DAVILA Mexico Biswanath B. SEN India Leif SEVÓN Finland Anne-Marie TRAHAN Canada Ioannis VOULGARIS Greece Pierre WIDMER Switzerland

ZHANG Yuejiao People's Republic of China

#### MEMBERS OF THE STUDY GROUP

Mr Alan ROSE - President, Australian Law Reform Commission, Canberra; Member of the Unidroit Governing Council; *Chairman of the Study Group; Rapporteur on Chapter 17* 

Mr Andrzej CALUS, Professor of Law, Director, Institute of International Law, Faculty of Foreign Trade of the Warsaw School of Economics, Warsaw

Mr Aldo FRIGNANI, Professor of Law, University of Turin; Frignani e Pivano, Turin; *Rapporteur on Chapter 11* 

Mr Franklin C. JESSE Jr., Gray Plant Mooty & Bennett, Minneapolis; Vice-Chairman of the Committee on International Franchising of the Section on Business Law of the International Bar Association; Rapporteur on Chapter 9 and Chapter 13

Mr István KISS, Secretary-General and Chief Executive Officer, Hungarian Franchise Association, Budapest

Mr Alexander S. KONIGSBERG, Q.C., Lapointe Rosenstein, Montreal; Former Chairman of the Committee on International Franchising of the Section on Business Law of the International Bar Association; *Rapporteur on Chapter 3 and Chapter 10* 

Mr Martin MENDELSOHN, Eversheds, London; Professor of Franchising, City University Business School, London; Former Chairman of the Committee on International Franchising of the Section on Business Law of the International Bar Association; Rapporteur on Chapter 4, Chapter 6, Chapter 15 and Chapter 16

Mr B. SEN, Senior Advocate at the Supreme Court of India, New Delhi; Member of the Unidroit Governing Council

Mr Albrecht SCHULZ, Sigle Loose Schmidt-Diemitz, Stuttgart; Chairman of the Committee on International Franchising of the Section on Business Law of the International Bar Association; *Rapporteur on Chapter 5, Chapter 7 and Chapter 14* 

Mr John VERNON, Strasburger & Price, L.L.P., Dallas; *Rapporteur on Chapter 2* 

Mr Philip F. ZEIDMAN, Rudnick, Wolfe, Epstein & Zeidman, Washington; General Counsel of the International Franchise Association, Washington; Former Chairman of the Committee on International Franchising of the Section on Business Law of the International Bar Association; Rapporteur on Chapter 8, Chapter 12 and Chapter 19

Ms Lena PETERS, Research Officer, UNIDROIT Secretariat; Secretary to the Study Group, Rapporteur on Introduction, Chapter 1, Chapter 18, Chapter 20 and Annexes 1 - 3; General Editor

#### **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

The UNIDROIT Guide to International Master Franchise Arrangements offers a comprehensive examination of the whole life of this type of arrangement, from the negotiation and drafting of the master franchise agreement and other associated agreements to the end of the relationship. It deals principally with the positions of the parties directly involved, i.e. the franchisor and the sub-franchisor but, in instances where it is considered to be of particular importance, the positions of others affected, such as sub-franchisees, are covered.

In order to place master franchise agreements in context, the Guide examines the differences between franchise agreements and other types of distribution and representation agreements (Chapter 1). The Guide takes into account the fact that franchising may not always be the vehicle most suited to a particular business under consideration. The parties, in particular the franchisor, must consequently contemplate the possibility that other ways of doing business may answer their purposes better than franchising. The Guide therefore considers the factors that should be taken into consideration by the parties when they decide upon the vehicle most appropriate for their business (Chapter 1). It also reviews the essential characteristics of unit franchising, which in the vast majority of cases takes the form of business format franchising (Annex 1), briefly examines the different forms of franchise internationally, and what is necessary to internationalise domestic franchise systems (Chapter 1).

Of fundamental importance in a master franchise relationship are the rights that are granted to the sub-franchisor. Chapter 2 examines the different assets that belong to the franchisor and to which the sub-franchisor is granted rights, including trademarks and other intellectual property rights (examined more extensively in Chapters 10 and 11). It also examines the three-tier structure of master franchise arrangements and the relationship between and among the parties involved (franchisor, sub-franchisor and sub-franchisee). The normal lack of a direct relationship between the franchisor and the sub-franchisee is illustrated, with indications being given of a few exceptional occasions on which such a direct relationship may be

contemplated. The advantages and disadvantages respectively of short and long terms of duration of the master franchise agreement and the conditions that are often imposed by the franchisor for the renewal of the agreement are considered in Chapter 3.

Essential to any description of franchising is what financial arrangements and payments are to be made by the sub-franchisor in return for the rights granted. This financial compensation is normally in the form of initial and/or continuing fees. Chapter 4 deals with the different sources of income of the franchisor and the sub-franchisor, with the calculation of payments and the procedures adopted for the execution of these payments, as well as with the fiscal implications thereof. The payments that sub-franchisors and sub-franchisees may be required to make into especially set up advertising funds are dealt with in Chapter 8, in connection with the general examination of the issues raised by advertising.

In a master franchise relationship each of the parties naturally has obligations and rights vis-à-vis the other. The rights of one party will often mirror the obligations of the other. Thus, for example, the right of the franchisor to receive payment for the rights it has granted the sub-franchisor the right to use, corresponds to the obligation of the sub-franchisor to pay for the rights it has been granted the right to use. What is perceived essentially as a right, may be both a right and an obligation. Thus, for instance, the right of the franchisor to control the quality of the performance of the sub-franchisor or franchisee may at the same time be an obligation, as the franchisor may be considered to have an implied duty towards the members of the network, who pay for the right to participate in the network, to ensure that quality standards are maintained by all the members. These questions are examined in Chapters 5 and 6, which deal with the role of the franchisor and sub-franchisor respectively. The subfranchise agreement, which links the sub-franchisor and the sub-franchisee, is also briefly examined (Chapter 7).

In many cases the franchisor will supply the sub-franchisor, or even the sub-franchisees, with particular equipment required for the franchised business (such as machinery with unique characteristics), with the products that the franchise units are to sell, or ingredients or parts thereof, and/or with services that the sub-franchisor, or in some cases even the sub-franchisees, require to run the business. Such services may include, for

example, a centralised booking system for a hotel franchise, or training in, and assistance with, the accounting of the business.

Intellectual property rights are essential to the franchise arrangement, both the intellectual property rights that are protected by legislation and those that are not (know-how in particular). Trademarks and copyright are dealt with in Chapter 10, whereas know-how and trade secrets are discussed in Chapter 11.

A master franchise arrangement, in particular an international master franchise arrangement, is intended to last over time. Its term, in many cases renewable, often extending for twenty years or more in consideration of the substantial investments and efforts necessary to establish and develop a franchise system in a foreign country. Circumstances however change over time, and to maintain its viability the franchise system must be able to adapt to the changing circumstances. In many respects this necessity to adapt the system mirrors the need to adapt it to the requirements of a foreign country when the system is first introduced there. The changes introduced also need to be reflected in the agreements themselves. Chapter 12 examines the circumstances in which change may be necessary and the techniques that are used to effect the changes required, including modifications to the agreement and to the manuals.

In the course of the master franchise relationship either of the parties may find itself in a position in which a sale, assignment or transfer of its rights in the franchise is necessary. This is the case, for example, with an internal restructuring of the business or if the party wishes to terminate the relationship. Furthermore, in the case of the death of a party, that party's heirs may wish to terminate the relationship. Chapter 13 examines the issues raised by the sale, assignment or transfer of the agreement before its term has come to an end.

Part of the attractiveness of franchising is the possibility it offers all the members of the network to identify with the trade name and/or trademark of the franchisor. From the franchisor's point of view certain risks are however inherent in this system. A consumer may, for example, identify the sub-franchisee with which it comes into contact with the franchisor and may consequently consider the franchisor liable for any failing on the part of the sub-franchisee. The possibility that the franchisor may be held vicariously liable for acts or omissions on the part of the sub-franchisors and

sub-franchisees of its network therefore needs to be taken into serious consideration and is examined in Chapter 14, together with the issues raised by requirements that the sub-franchisor, and sub-franchisees, take out insurance.

As is the case with other types of agreement, the parties to a master franchise agreement may not always perform their obligations. A number of remedies are available in such cases, the most drastic of which is termination. Chapter 15 examines the different remedies that are available, both those short of termination and termination, and Chapter 16 considers the end of the master franchise relationship and its consequences, independently of whether it has come to an end as a result of wilful termination or because the term of the agreement has expired. A problematic issue considered in this connection is the fate of the sub-franchise agreements, considering that the rights granted under sub-franchise agreements are derived directly from the master franchise agreement.

It is of considerable importance to determine what law is to apply to an international agreement. This determination is made by the parties themselves when they enter into the relationship, or, failing such a determination by the parties, by the court seized of a dispute arising out of their agreement. To make this determination courts will in such cases apply the conflict of laws rules of their jurisdiction. Similarly, the forum in which any disputes should be decided also needs to be determined. This may be either a court of a relevant State or an international arbitrator. Alternatively, less binding forms of dispute resolution such as negotiation, mediation or conciliation may be used, possibly as a first step in the dispute resolution procedure. If the parties decide that State courts are to determine the dispute, then they may also agree on the courts of a particular jurisdiction to hear any dispute. The importance and desirability of choosing both the applicable law and the form of dispute resolution are examined in Chapter 17, as are the implications of the different options available.

In addition to the clauses that relate specifically to the franchise business, franchise agreements contain a number of clauses that are commonly used in agreements generally. Examples of such clauses are examined in Chapter 18.

A franchise arrangement may be structured in many different ways and many different agreements may form part of the arrangement. These agreements may concern matters that in some arrangements are regulated in the master franchise agreement itself, such as the duty of confidentiality, or other particular issues that more clearly are the subject of separate agreements, such as the licensing of software. Examples of such ancillary documents are examined in Chapter 19.

As is clear from the list in Annex 2, franchising is a way of doing business. It is not a business in itself. As a consequence whatever licences or permits particular State authorities require for the carrying on of a particular trade must also be obtained by the sub-franchisor in addition to settling the master franchising arrangements. Examples of such regulatory requirements are given in Chapter 20.

The Annexes to the Guide attempt to sketch in some additional relevant material to place international master franchising in the broader economic, social and legal contexts. The advantages and disadvantages of franchising for the franchisor and the franchisee are illustrated in Annex 1. Annex 2 examines the relevance of franchising to the political economy of a country by outlining the advantages it provides in terms of employment opportunities, through reduced failure rates, especially for small business, and that in many instances compare favourably with those of traditional businesses, and by easing the way for new operators into a market economy in developing countries and economies in transition.

Annex 3 sets out briefly first the different branches of law that are relevant to franchising, even if they do not apply exclusively to franchising, and continues with an examination of the legislation that exists in a number of countries and that is specific to franchising, ending with a consideration of the voluntary regulations that are adopted by the franchise associations and that normally take the form of codes of ethics.

#### INTRODUCTION

In recent years franchising is having an increasingly significant effect on the economy of a growing number of countries. The most famous names of franchising (McDonald's, Holiday Inn, Yves Rocher, Body Shop ) have become household names and are to be seen all over the world. This growth is however not limited to large international chains. Thanks to franchising, indigenous networks are spreading with a rapidity that was unheard of only twenty years ago.

Despite the unprecedented success of franchising, there is a wide-spread lack of knowledge of the exact nature of this way of doing business, as well as of the legal and practical issues that should be dealt with by any entrepreneur who is contemplating making use of the franchising vehicle. This lack of knowledge is common not only in the developing world, but also in industrialised nations in which franchising has been present for some time.

Conscious of the real benefits of franchising, of its potential to act as a stimulus for economic growth and the creation of jobs, the *International Institute for the Unification of Private Law (UNIDROIT)* has decided to publish a *Guide to International Master Franchise Arrangements*. The purpose of the *Guide* is to spread knowledge with a view to providing all those who deal with franchising, whether they be franchise operators, lawyers, judges, arbitrators or scholars, with a tool for the better understanding of the possibilities it offers.

Although master franchising was selected as the main focus of the *Guide* by reason of its being the method most commonly used in international franchising, a brief description of the other principal methods used in both domestic and international franchising is also provided. It is hoped that by offering an introduction to readers not familiar with this form of business, the *Guide* will be of use to operators, lawyers and others active on both the international and the domestic scenes. It must however be stressed that the principal purpose of the *Guide* is to assist parties in negotiating and drawing up international master franchise agreements by identifying the legal issues involved in those agreements, discussing possible approaches to the issues and, where appropriate, suggesting

solutions which parties may wish to consider. By furnishing comprehensive information the *Guide* aims to assist in placing the parties on the same level where no previous knowledge or experience would otherwise have placed one of them at a disadvantage. It should therefore contribute to enabling the parties to deal with the issues that arise with greater confidence.

The UNIDROIT Guide to International Master Franchise Arrangements is the first publication of its kind issued by UNIDROIT. It confirms the intention of the organisation to expand its activities to cover also alternative approaches to the unification of law in addition to the more traditional approach of preparing and adopting prescriptive legal norms in the form of international conventions.

The most obvious reason for the introduction of legislation is the need to come to terms with problems that have arisen in practice. This is particularly the case where no specific legislation is in place and the legislation of general application is inadequate or unable to solve the particular problem that has arisen. If the problem concerned has cross-border implications, it will often lead to a proposal for the preparation of an international regulatory instrument being put forward in the intergovernmental organisation most suitable for this purpose.

In 1985, when the subject of franchising was first proposed for inclusion in the Work Programme of the Institute, franchising was only just beginning to spread across the Atlantic. At the time, it had already developed to a full-blown industry in North America: in Canada, where the proposal originated, in 1984 retail sales from franchise outlets amounted to approximately 45% of total Canadian retail sales. It is in the nature of things human that nothing develops without problems and franchising is no exception. There had been instances of sharp practices by some franchisors and this had given rise to a concern that such practices might escape control and eventually appear and spread in international franchise transactions. A proposal was therefore put forward for an international regulatory instrument to be prepared and it was felt that UNIDROIT, which at the time was engaged in the preparation of what in 1988 were to become the Unidroit Conventions on International Financial Leasing and International Factoring, was considered to be the organisation most suited for this purpose.

A first, preliminary stage of the project involved the preparation of reports analysing the phenomenon as such, the information gathered by means of a survey conducted by the circulating of a questionnaire to Governments, professional circles and recognised experts in the field, as well as the provisions used in franchise agreements, and the monitoring of both national and international developments in franchising and franchise legislation.

At its 72<sup>nd</sup> session in June, 1993, the Governing Council of the Institute decided that the time had come for a *Study Group on Franchising* to be set up. The terms of reference of the Study Group as defined by the Governing Council were to examine different aspects of franchising, in particular the disclosure of information between the parties before and after the conclusion of a franchise agreement and the effects of the termination of master franchise agreements on sub-franchise agreements. The Study Group was also requested to make proposals to the Council regarding any other aspects of franchising that might lend themselves to further action by the Institute and, as soon as practicably possible, to indicate the form of any instrument or instruments which might be envisaged.

As concerns domestic franchising, the Study Group concentrated on the question of disclosure, examining the experience of countries that have, or have attempted, some form of regulation in this area, the role of franchise associations and the importance of the codes of ethics adopted by those associations. The Study Group did not reach any final conclusion as regards domestic franchising and decided that it would come back to it at a later stage. It consequently recommended to the Council that for the time being consideration of any action on domestic franchising be postponed.

In relation to international franchising the Study Group focused its attention on master franchise arrangements. It considered in particular the nature of the relationship between the master franchise agreement and the sub-franchise agreements, applicable law and jurisdiction, the settlement of disputes, problems associated with the three-tier nature of the relationship between franchisor, sub-franchisor and sub-franchisees, particularly in relation to termination, and disclosure.

The findings of the Group led to the conclusion that none of the areas which had been discussed would lend itself to being dealt with by means of an international convention. This was clearly the conclusion to be drawn from the discussion on how the agreements were concluded and on what information was requested and provided. This view found confirmation in the existence of a great variety of franchise agreements and in the numerous different options open to parties entering into franchise agreements, as the consequence of regulating any of the issues that arise by an international convention would be to tie the hands of the parties by suggesting that the issue at hand ought to be dealt with in one specific way only, and this would be of little service to the business community.

Furthermore, although nothing would actually prevent the elaboration of an international convention, the subject-matters examined would require a considerable number of mandatory provisions, which would lead to a lack of flexibility that might in the end hamper the development of the franchising industry. The stringent nature of international conventions would moreover not permit the adaptations that a State might consider to be an essential condition for its adoption of the convention. The combination of the mandatory nature of the provisions and the binding nature of the convention would not augur well for the adoption of a convention by the different nations of the world. The utility of such an instrument might therefore seriously be questioned.

After a review of the other options available as regards the instrument to be adopted, it was concluded that a uniform law would not be more suitable than an international convention and might indeed often be considered to present the same drawbacks.

A more feasible instrument might in this case be a model law, a major advantage of model laws being their flexibility, which permits national legislators to make the modifications that they consider to be imperative. It is therefore possible for the experts entrusted with the preparation of a model law to include provisions that they deem to be the most appropriate solutions to the problems addressed, even if in the end not all States that decide to take inspiration from the model law will include all its provisions in their national laws. The price to pay for this greater flexibility is of course less uniformity, as a number of provisions will differ from country to country. While the possibility of adopting a model law might be

considered for domestic franchising, it was however felt that it would be less suitable for international franchising, in particular considering the methods normally adopted in cross-border franchising.

Of importance in the spectrum of voluntary regulations are Codes of Ethics or Best Practices. Codes of Ethics are however by their nature adopted by the profession concerned and are in most cases drawn up by the national association of the profession, or, internationally, by the federation of national associations. It was therefore considered not to be appropriate for an international organisation such as UNIDROIT to proceed with the drafting of an international Code of Ethics. Furthermore, while these Codes constitute an important attempt to introduce ethical standards among the members of the professional associations concerned, their effectiveness varies and is often disputed even if courts have been known to refer to them as standards of conduct.

Another type of instrument that was briefly considered as a possibility was that of the model contract. The majority of the Group however did not feel that such an instrument would be suitable for master franchising. Furthermore, the *International Chamber of Commerce* in Paris was already preparing a model franchise contract for international, direct unit franchises and the Study Group therefore decided to exclude the model contract from the options open for consideration.

Whereas a binding instrument such as an international convention was considered to be inappropriate, there emerged in the course of the meeting a general consensus on the fact that it would be opportune, and indeed that it would be both appropriate and desirable, to prepare a legal guide to international franchising, in particular to master franchise arrangements. It was however suggested that any such guide should be drafted on the assumption, and stating the fact, that parties should use legal counsel and that therefore matters of a general nature would not be dealt with in the guide.

The Group felt that the guide approach would present several advantages for a subject such as franchising. In the first place it could illustrate the problems that might arise in connection with issues that had already been regulated in one way or another by national legislation, but which were of particular importance in the context of franchising (such as intellectual property). It could also illustrate the advantages and disadvantages

of the different options open to operators and alert readers to the different hurdles that they might find on their path. This would clearly not be possible if an instrument such as an international convention were opted for. Furthermore, a guide could be prepared in a relatively short period of time, which was not the case for an instrument such as a convention for which a totally different procedure would be required. A guide could be launched on the market upon completion and could consequently be immediately available to operators, whereas an international convention would require adoption by a sufficient number of States for it to enter into force, followed by the preparation of implementing legislation, all of which might take a long time. If the purpose of the international instrument to be adopted was to reach out quickly to the franchising community, then an instrument such as a guide was the most appropriate. The Group consequently recommended to the Governing Council of UNIDROIT that work on a guide to international master franchise arrangements be undertaken.

The Governing Council of the Institute endorsed this recommendation at its 74<sup>th</sup> session in March, 1995, and requested that work on the guide advance as rapidly as possible. This volume is the outcome of the labours of the Study Group.

#### CHAPTER 1

## FUNDAMENTAL CONCEPTS AND ELEMENTS

This Guide deals with one particular form of franchising, master franchising, which is that most commonly used in international franchise arrangements. The basis upon which master franchising and other forms of franchising build is, however, the simple unit franchise, in which there is a direct relationship between the franchisor and the franchisee.

A variety of different business arrangements are known as "franchising". There is no single, recognised definition that is applicable to all situations, even if a certain number of basic elements are present in all the different arrangements that may be considered to be franchising.

Franchising is often divided into industrial franchises, distribution franchises and service franchises. Other descriptions of franchising divide franchises into product distribution franchises and business format franchises.<sup>1</sup>

The form of franchising known as business format franchising is increasingly coming to symbolise franchising as a whole. In business format franchising a franchisor has elaborated and tested a specific business procedure (the "business format"), be it for the distribution of goods or the supplying of services, which it then proceeds to grant franchisees the right to use. A business format franchise agreement is thus concluded between two independent undertakings, whereby one, the franchisor, against compensation (normally, but not exclusively, in the form of an entry fee and/or continuing fees) grants the other, the franchisee, the right to market goods or supply services under its trademark and/or trade name following the business method or procedures which it has elaborated and tested. In order to permit the franchisee to do so, the franchisor will provide the franchisee with the know-how required and with the training needed to

For a more detailed description of unit franchising, see Annex 1 "Franchising: General Notions".

use this know-how. The franchisor will also in most cases provide a detailed manual containing the necessary instructions for the running of the business. Furthermore, for the duration of the agreement the franchisor will typically provide the franchisee with any assistance it might need in the operation of the franchise.

It is therefore a package which includes (but is not necessarily limited to) intellectual property rights that are protected by statute (for example trademarks, trade names or, less frequently, patents), know-how, training and continued assistance on the part of the franchisor, franchisor control rights vis-à-vis the franchisee and obligations of the franchisee to follow the instructions of the franchisor and to comply with the financial terms of the agreement. It further permits, or may at times require, the franchise unit to be clearly identified as a member of a particular franchise network.

In the majority of cases business format franchises are those that expand abroad, often by means of master franchise arrangements.

## A. MASTER FRANCHISE AGREEMENTS AND OTHER COMMERCIAL VEHICLES

There is no doubt that master franchise agreements are the type of agreement most common in international franchising. The realisation of this fact brought the UNIDROIT Study Group to recommend, and the Governing Council of UNIDROIT to accept, that master franchise arrangements should be the form of franchising primarily to be dealt with in this Guide.

#### I. MASTER FRANCHISE AGREEMENTS

In master franchise agreements the franchisor grants another person, the sub-franchisor,<sup>2</sup> the right, which in most cases will be exclusive, to grant franchises to sub-franchisees within a certain territory (such as a country) and/or to open franchise outlets itself.<sup>3</sup> The sub-franchisor in other words acts as franchisor in the foreign country. The sub-franchisor pays the franchisor financial compensation for this right. This compensation often takes the form of an initial fee, which may take any one of a variety of

<sup>2</sup> Often also called the "master franchisee".

<sup>3</sup> See Chapter 2 "Nature and Extent of Rights Granted and Relationship of the Parties".

different forms, and/or royalties constituting a percentage of the income the sub-franchisor receives from the sub-franchised outlets. The form of financial compensation, and the relative importance of the component parts of this compensation, will vary from country to country and from franchise to franchise. It should be noted that the use of master franchise agreements is not limited to international franchising and that they may also be used in the domestic franchising context.

In master franchise arrangements essentially two agreements are involved: an international agreement between the franchisor and the subfranchisor (the master franchise agreement), and a domestic franchise agreement between the sub-franchisor and each of the sub-franchisees (the sub-franchise agreement). There is in most cases no direct relationship between the franchisor and the sub-franchisees, although in some countries intellectual property legislation will make a direct link necessary for matters concerning those particular rights.<sup>5</sup> The sub-franchisor assumes the right to licence the sub-franchisees as the franchisor in the territory and undertakes the duties of a franchisor to the sub-franchisees. The subfranchisor is responsible for the enforcement of the sub-franchise agreements and for the general development and operation of the network in the country or territory it has been given the right to develop. It is the duty of the sub-franchisor to intervene if a sub-franchisee does not fulfil its obligations. In cases where there are no contractual relationships between the franchisor and the sub-franchisees the franchisor will normally not be able to intervene directly to ensure compliance by the sub-franchisees, but it will be able to sue the sub-franchisor for non-performance if the latter does not fulfil its obligation to enforce the sub-franchise agreements as laid down in the master franchise agreement.6

#### (a) Principal Benefits of Master Franchising

As is the case with any other business technique, master franchising has both advantages and disadvantages for the parties involved.

<sup>4</sup> See Chapter 4 "Financial Matters".

<sup>5</sup> See Chapter 10 "Intellectual Property".

<sup>6</sup> There are however franchisors who reserve the right to intervene against defaulting sub-franchisees - see Chapter 2, cit. For an examination of remedies short of termination, see Chapter 15 "Remedies for Non-Performance".

For the franchisor, the advantages include the possibility to expand its network without investing as much as would be necessary if it were setting up the foreign operation itself, although the investment required, in both staffing and financial terms, may turn out to be more substantial than many franchisors estimate before they enter into the agreement.

Furthermore, the country of the franchisor and that of the sub-franchisor will in all likelihood differ considerably as to culture, customs and traditions, legislation, language and religion, not to speak of social and economic organisation. It is therefore of considerable advantage to the franchisor if it is able to rely on an individual or entity that will be familiar with the country concerned, that will know how the local bureaucracy works, what is necessary to fulfil all the legal requirements, and that will be able to advise the franchisor on the modifications that are necessary to adapt the system to the local conditions. Furthermore, the geographic distance between the country of the franchisor and that in which it intends to expand its network might be such that it would be difficult for the franchisor to control the performance of the unit operators. The economic and logistic burdens involved may in fact be such that it would not be economically viable for the franchisor to enforce the terms of the unit agreements. The contribution of a local sub-franchisor that is able to step into the franchisor's shoes in the country concerned, is therefore of the utmost importance. The franchisor will normally undertake to provide the sub-franchisor with a number of services, <sup>7</sup> but thereafter the sub-franchisor will, depending on the system, to a large extent have prime responsibility for the running of the operation. Even so, the role played by the franchisor should not be underestimated.

A major advantage of franchising in general is the fact that the franchisee has the benefit of investing in a well-known and tested business concept. To a certain extent this is true also as regards international master franchising, although how well-known a particular franchise system is in the country of the sub-franchisor will vary considerably. The most famous franchises are known in a large number of countries all over the world. Others are less well-known, or are known in fewer countries, but are solid franchises that have every chance of success. For the sub-

<sup>7</sup> See Chapter 5 "The Role of the Franchisor".

franchisor they are therefore well worth investing in, even if a considerable investment in time and effort will be needed to make the system known. The technical know-how that accompanies a franchise might also be of considerable interest to a sub-franchisor. It should however be noted, that sub-franchisors are often large commercial entities with substantial funds and technical know-how of their own. Sub-franchisors in fact need to be large, as the amount of investment that they will be required to make to develop the network will be of major importance. It is not unusual for the sub-franchisor to be larger than the franchisor.

## (b) Common Problems associated with Master Franchising

The three main areas with which franchisors have expressed dissatisfaction are the limited control of the franchisor over the franchise network, the problems associated with the terminating of the master franchise agreement and the sharing of the income derived from the fees.

#### (1) Limited control of Franchisor over Franchise Network

By entrusting the establishment, supervision and control of its franchise network and its trademarks to a sub-franchisor, the franchisor has to a large extent handed over the control of its franchise system, including its trademarks, to the sub-franchisor. This diminished control on the part of the franchisor is a direct result of the fact that typically there is no direct contractual relationship between the franchisor and the sub-franchisees. The franchisor is thus obliged to rely on the sub-franchisor to enforce the sub-franchise agreements and to ensure that its rights, such as intellectual property rights, are not infringed upon. As the sub-franchisor has as great an interest as the franchisor in the proper functioning of the network and the protection of the intellectual property, the franchisor will usually be able to rely on the sub-franchisor to act in case of intellectual property infringement or malfunctioning of the network. Problems however arise where the sub-franchisor does not perform its obligations as it should.

See Chapters 2 and 10 cit.

Legally the franchisor has the right to enforce the provisions of the master franchise agreement that require the sub-franchisor to properly establish, supervise and control the franchise system and its trademarks. It is however a right that is most difficult to enforce from a practical point of view. In certain situations direct contractual relationships are exceptionally created between the franchisor and the sub-franchisees, by, for example, making the franchisor a party to the sub-franchise agreement. Although being a party to the sub-franchise agreement might permit the franchisor to take action where the sub-franchisor does not, this is a solution that is usually avoided by franchisors as it might defeat the whole purpose of master franchising by making the franchisor directly responsible to the sub-franchisees. Although a carefully structured arrangement between the franchisor, sub-franchisor and sub-franchisees and carefully prepared master and sub-franchise agreements can alleviate the problems of diminished control, the nature of master franchising makes it impossible to avoid these problems entirely.9

While the franchisor may feel that it has too limited a control over the operations of the sub-franchisor, the sub-franchisor might feel that the franchisor has retained rather too much control. This is understandable, considering that the sub-franchisor is an entrepreneur in its own right, with considerable experience and professional knowledge of the territory with which it has been entrusted.

## (2) Problems with Terminating Master Franchise Agreements

The nature of master franchising is such that it is difficult for a franchisor to enforce its right to terminate a master franchise agreement. The consequence could be that the franchisor continues in an unprofitable and undesirable business relationship with its sub-franchisor. The difficulties involved in terminating master franchise agreements relate in particular to the impact of such a termination on sub-franchisees. Although the sub-franchisees are not parties to the master franchise agreement, the rights granted by the sub-franchise agreements are derived from the master franchise agreement and their fate is therefore

<sup>9</sup> On remedies for non-performance, see Chapter 15.

dependent upon the master franchise agreement. The inability to provide for acceptable solutions to the effects of termination, especially as regards sub-franchisees, is one of the most important defects of the master franchise arrangement. The consequences need to be considered in detail at the time of the negotiations. 10

If realistically there are problems in terminating the master franchise agreement, the converse is also true, in that the sub-franchisor has no guarantee that the agreement will always be renewed. Considering the substantial investments necessary on the part of the sub-franchisor, this uncertainty represents one of the drawbacks to be taken into consideration at the time of evaluating the franchise. 11

#### (3) Sharing of Income derived from Fees

The financial return of the franchisor is likely to be considerably lower in master franchising than in direct unit franchising and development arrangements. This will to some extent be offset by the fewer costs incurred by the franchisor. A feature of master franchising is the sharing of the income derived from the initial franchise fees and the continuing royalty fees between the franchisor and the sub-franchisor. This may give rise to the question whether the revenue from these fees is sufficient for both the franchisor and the sub-franchisor. Although typically the fees are split in a proportion that favours the sub-franchisor, the doubt nevertheless remains whether the revenue left in the hands of the sub-franchisor is sufficient to support the type of organisation that a sub-franchisor is required to build in order to ensure the proper establishment and supervision of the franchise network.

The question is just as relevant for franchisors who typically receive the smaller portion of the fees paid by the sub-franchisees. This has led franchisors to question whether the revenue they receive is sufficient compensation for their continuing efforts to provide support to the sub-franchisor and for the inherent risks involved in international franchising. In the past many franchisors assumed that, once the master franchise agreement had been entered into and the sub-franchisor had

<sup>10</sup> See below, Section B.IV.

<sup>11</sup> See Chapters 3 "Term of the Agreement and Conditions of Renewal" and 16 "The End of the Relationship and its Consequences".

been properly trained in all aspects of the franchise system, the sub-franchisor would be solely responsible for the network, without the franchisor having to intervene. What experience has shown over the years, is that the continued involvement of the franchisor in the host country is essential to ensure the viability of the franchise system. Senior management of the franchisor may be required to spend lengthy periods of time in the host country with the consequence that the continuing costs of supporting the franchise system in the host country remain significant. The royalties that will be earned by a franchisor in the initial three to five year period during which the franchise system is being established may therefore not compensate it for its continued efforts in assisting the sub-franchisor in establishing the franchise system in the host country.

#### II. Franchise Agreements and Other Agreements

Franchise agreements contain numerous elements that may cause them to be identified with other types of agreement, particularly in countries where there is no legislation that specifically regulates franchising. In a number of countries, legislation adopted specifically for commercial agents, instalment sales or standard form contracts has, for example, been applied by analogy to franchise agreements by courts. In reality, however, although franchise agreements are often identified with agency, distribution or licence agreements, and although elements of these types of agreement are present in franchising, there are substantial differences between them.

#### (a) Commercial Agency Agreements

The type of agency that is relevant when franchise agreements are compared with other types of agreement is that of commercial agency.

Traditionally, the commercial agent was unknown to the common law which consequently did not provide for any specific regulation of this type of representative. The common law concept of "agent" is in fact to all intents and purposes the same as that of the general agent under the civil law systems.

The figure of the commercial agent was developed in the civil law tradition and was introduced into the law of the then European Communities by the *European Council Directive 86/653 of 18 December, 1986, on the Co-ordination of the laws of the Member States relating to self-employed commercial agents.* The figure of the commercial agent was consequently introduced into the European common law systems by the European Directive. It should perhaps be observed that, despite the unifying force of the European Directive, considerable differences still exist in this field between the national legal systems.

Although certain differences exist between the different civil law systems, the essence of the civil law concept may be considered to have been summarised in this directive, according to which a commercial agent is a self-employed intermediary who has continuing authority to negotiate the sale or the purchase of goods on behalf of another person (the principal), or to negotiate and conclude such transactions on behalf of and in the name of that principal.<sup>13</sup>

In franchising on the other hand, the franchisor and the franchisee are two independent businesspersons who invest and risk their own funds. Franchisor and franchisee are not liable for each other's acts or omissions. Franchise agreements in fact often contain a provision expressly stating that the franchisee is not the franchisor's agent and does not have the power to bind the franchisor. The independence of the franchisor and the franchisee is often made clear also to customers by means of a sign placed in the unit indicating that that place of business is a franchise and is not owned by the franchisor.

#### (b) Distribution Agreements

Differences between national legal systems exist also as regards what are known as distribution agreements or *concessions*. In essence, however, a distribution agreement is one whereby a manufacturer or supplier of goods grants a distributor the right to resell or supply those

<sup>12</sup> OJ EEC L 382/17, 31.12.1986. This Directive lays down a general duty of good faith of the agent and the principal in their dealings with each other and considers questions relating to the remuneration of the agent and to the conclusion and termination of the contract.

<sup>13</sup> Cf. Article 1(2).

goods. The distributor is wholly independently owned and financed and buys the products from the supplier by whom it has been granted the distribution rights. In some jurisdictions these distribution rights may be granted also for the supplying of services. In others, the distribution agreement is considered to incorporate the distributor into the manufacturer's or supplier's sales organisation.

Distribution agreements may be either general or exclusive. If they are general, the distributor may carry a range of products in respect of which it has been granted distribution rights, it may even have competing or conflicting product lines supplied by different suppliers. Furthermore, the supplier may have several distributors in the same area. Exclusive distribution arrangements grant the distributor the exclusive right to sell the products in a specified area, the supplier undertaking not to supply other distributors in that area. This will not necessarily prevent the distributor from carrying a range of other products. There are in fact a range of possible exclusivity arrangements that may be considered.

In franchise agreements there is instead in most cases an exclusivity clause which provides that the franchisee is to market only the products of the franchisor. The vendor and purchaser relationship may also be present in a franchise relationship, but will in most cases be a mere feature of the broader franchise arrangement, which will include also the licensing of the trademark and system of the franchisor and the providing of certain services by the franchisor to the franchisee, such as training and continued assistance.

#### (c) Licence Agreements

A licence may be defined as a contractual arrangement pursuant to which a party (licensor) grants another party (licensee) the right to use the licensor's patents, know-how, trademarks and/or other intellectual property rights in connection with the manufacturing and/or distribution of a certain product. This clearly also forms part of the franchise arrangement which, however, has additional characteristics. It should be noted that although here are certain differences between the licences granted for the different categories of intellectual property, the main characteristics are similar.

Licence agreements may be non-exclusive or exclusive. In non-exclusive licences the licensee is granted the right to use the licensor's invention, know-how or trademarks but has no exclusive right to do so. The licensor therefore retains the possibility to use the intellectual property itself, as well as to grant licenses to other licensees. If the licence is exclusive, the licensor undertakes not to grant a similar licence to others and may also undertake not to use the intellectual property itself. An exclusive licence may be granted for a specific territory, for example a particular country, or may be more general in character.

In essence the difference between a licence and a franchise is that a licensor controls the manner in which the licensee uses the licensor's patents, know-how and/or trademarks, but has no control over the business format or the manner in which the licensee carries on its business, whereas a franchisor exercises detailed control also over the manner in which the franchisee operates its unit.

#### (d) Transfer of Technology Agreements

Transfer of technology agreements are in effect a form of licence agreement, under the terms of which a licensee is granted the right to establish a manufacturing facility to produce a product using the licensor's technology. Here again, the licensor does not retain any control over the way in which the licensee conducts its business. Despite this considerable difference, and despite the other characteristics of franchising, transfer of technology laws are often formulated in such a broad manner that franchising is brought within their ambit.

#### III. METHODS TO FRANCHISE INTERNATIONALLY

There are essentially two main ways to franchise internationally: directly<sup>14</sup> or through master franchise arrangements.<sup>15</sup>

These classic methods used by franchisors for international expansion may however not be appropriate in every situation, other methods of distribution being better suited under certain circumstances. Examples of

<sup>14</sup> See below.

<sup>15</sup> For a general description of master franchise arrangements, see above, page 5 ff.

such other methods include "bare bones" license agreements, scaled down versions of master franchise agreements and "hybrid franchise/license" agreements.

Generally speaking, a "bare bones" license agreement is a limited license agreement by which the franchisor grants the franchisee/licensee a license (that may or may not be exclusive) to use the franchise system, and in some circumstances the trade marks, in the foreign country. Apart from the initial training to be provided to the franchisee/licensee, the franchisor will not be required to provide any additional training or assistance and will, to all intents and purposes, be free of any additional obligations.

In a "scaled down" version of a master franchise agreement many of the typical obligations imposed on a sub-franchisor, and many of the rights available to a franchisor, under a normal master franchise agreement are excluded.

A hybrid franchise/license agreement will typically take the form of a traditional patent, know-how or trade mark license under which the franchisee/licensee will be required to distribute the product by means of a business format stipulated by the manufacturer/franchisor/licensor.

Joint ventures are also used in international franchising, often as a means to solve problems of funding but also as a means of ensuring that the franchisor is sharing in the risk. They are therefore not used alone, but in conjunction with development agreements or master franchise agreements in particular. What normally happens in these cases is that the franchisor and a local partner create a joint venture which typically takes the form of a corporation, but which may also take the form of a partnership or trust. This joint venture then enters into a master franchise agreement with the franchisor, becomes a sub-franchisor and proceeds to open franchise units and to grant sub-franchises in the same manner as a normal sub-franchisor. Alternatively, the joint venture may enter into a development agreement with the franchisor and thus become a developer.

One of the most important advantages to be gained by using a joint venture in franchising is the financial contribution that the franchisor is able to make to the operation as a whole. It is a system that is particularly suitable in countries where funding is scarce, but where other preconditions necessary to the growth of franchising are present (small businesses or people with savings that they are in a position to invest in a sub-franchise, for example).

Whatever the method a franchisor chooses to develop the franchise system, whether direct franchising or master franchising, in combination or not in combination with a joint venture, it will need to consider whether or not, as a corporate entity, it will engage in the franchising activity directly from its head office or from a branch, or whether it will do so by means of a subsidiary. It should perhaps be recalled that a subsidiary is a separate legal entity whereas a branch is not. Whether the franchisor decides to set up a branch office or a subsidiary will often depend upon tax and general management considerations. In either case the body concerned, subsidiary or branch office, acts as franchisor for the purpose of granting franchises.

#### **Direct franchising**

Direct franchising includes traditional unit franchising and franchising by means of development agreements.

#### (1) Unit Franchising

In unit franchising the franchisor itself grants franchises to individual franchisees in the foreign country. In this case there is an international agreement to which the franchisor and the franchisee are parties. This form of franchising is not used frequently in international franchising, unless it is between countries that are geographically and culturally close to each other. In most cases the agreements concerned will relate to businesses involving considerable financial investments, such as hotel franchises.

#### (2) Development Agreements

In the case of development agreements the developer is given the right to open a multiple number of units in accordance with a predetermined schedule and within a given area. The franchisor and the developer may enter into a unit agreement for every unit that the developer opens, in which case there will be a framework development agreement as well as a number of unit agreements, all between the franchisor and the developer. The development agreement may on the other hand cover both the framework agreement and the unit agreements. Under the unit agreements the developer is a normal franchisee with the same rights and obligations as any other franchisee. Development agreements, which until recently were not common in

international franchising, are now receiving increased prominence in countries that are geographically distant from the country of the franchisor. In an international context this form of agreement presents specific problems that do not necessarily exist within a national context. These include the substantial financing that is required to create a network. In order to be able to open several units in accordance with a predetermined schedule the developer must have considerable financial means. If the arrangement is unsatisfactory, it is very expensive for the franchisor, or for another prospective developer, to take over the network. Unrealistic development schedules are also liable to cause problems, although this is not an issue that is limited to international franchising, or indeed to development agreements.

#### IV. AREA REPRESENTATION AGREEMENTS

Although area representation agreements are sometimes used in international franchising, and are sometimes presented as master franchise agreements or development agreements, it must be stressed that they are not franchise agreements but are rather more in the nature of agency or commercial representation agreements. Under this type of arrangement the franchisor will typically grant a third party, the area representative, the right to solicit prospective franchisees, as well as to provide certain specific services on behalf of the franchisor to existing franchisees within an exclusive territory. These services will normally cover both the establishment and the continued operation of the franchise units.

Area representation arrangements are sometimes treated as a variation of master franchising in which the franchisor receives the same benefits as in master franchising while avoiding certain of the problems associated with it, namely the handing over of the control of the franchise system and trademarks to the sub-franchisor and the issues that arise in connection with the termination of the master franchise agreement. It should be observed that since area representatives traditionally do not make the same investment as sub-franchisors, and do not develop the same goodwill as would a sub-franchisor under a master franchise arrangement, the franchisor cannot expect the area representative to have the same qualities as a sub-franchisor. Rather than being an alternative to master franchising, area representation arrangements are typically associated with direct

franchising, in that it is the franchisor, and not the area representative, who maintains a direct contractual relationship with the franchisee. The area representative merely seeks out prospective franchisees, interviews them and makes a recommendation as to their suitability to the franchisor. Area representatives may assume some of the supervisory functions of the franchisor, such as for example training and monitoring the manner in which the franchise system and trademarks are being used by the franchisee, but also in this case the area representative is merely acting as a representative of the franchisor.

## B. EXPANDING INTERNATIONALLY: SELECTING THE APPROPRIATE VEHICLE AND NEGOTIATING THE AGREEMENT

## I. FACTORS TO CONSIDER WHEN DETERMINING THE MOST APPROPRIATE VEHICLE

An entrepreneur who has decided to expand abroad must determine which commercial vehicle is the most appropriate for its type of business and for the achieving of its objectives. Similarly, the prospective local partner of an entrepreneur must evaluate the type of business it is able to set up as well as the type of relationship it wishes to establish with the foreign partner. A number of factors may be of relevance in this evaluation, some of which are objective factors, such as the market, cultural considerations and the legal environment, other of which are subjective, such as the nature of the business itself, the economic conditions of the parties, their experience, how they intend to divide the responsibility and the revenue, and the control the foreign partner wishes to exercise over the operation of the local partner.

#### (a) Objective Factors

#### (1) The Market

Of fundamental importance in the choice of a vehicle is the condition of the market that the system is intending to enter. The factors that should be considered include the type of economy of the host

country, the host country's prevailing inflation and interest rates, the ease with which the local partner can finance its investment, the possible role of banks and other financial institutions in the negotiations for, and operation of, a franchise, the availability of alternative sources of know-how and well-known marks that may make the franchisor's system less of a unique commodity and, last but not least, the general attitude of the local authorities.

In an international situation the franchisor may have to rely on its local partner to provide an assessment of the local market and of the potential development of the franchise in that particular market.

#### (2) Cultural Considerations

A number of cultural factors need to be considered in an assessment of the different commercial vehicles available. For example, if there is no entrepreneurial tradition in the host country, then the most suitable vehicle might be one that permits the foreign entrepreneur to exercise greater control over the operations and that ensures that the local operators are adequately trained and are able to function effectively.

Cultural considerations are perhaps most important when the decision to enter the market of a particular country is taken. Whether or not a particular product or service, a particular trademark or trade name, or a particular way of operating, is acceptable in a country will often depend on local traditions, on religious customs and on the local legislation.

#### (3) The Legal Environment

The legal environment in the host country is of considerable importance in determining which vehicle is the most appropriate. For franchising to function there must be in place a general legislation on commercial contracts, an adequate company law, intellectual property legislation and an effective enforcement of the rights guaranteed by this legislation.

If the existence of certain legislation is a pre-condition for the effective functioning of franchising, there are other legal factors that may determine whether or not franchising is appropriate. These include, for

example, any registration requirements, the need to submit the agreement to a government authority for approval, the existence of restrictive currency control regulations, import and/or export quotas and tax regulations, including any possible double-taxation agreements.

#### (b) Subjective Factors

#### (1) The Nature of the Business

Of fundamental importance in the selection of the most appropriate vehicle is the nature of the business itself. What is suitable must be determined on a case by case basis.

In determining whether of not franchising is the most appropriate vehicle for a particular business, a number of subjective factors should be considered and assessed. First and foremost the business concept must have proved to be successful in practice. It should furthermore be distinctive both in its public image and in the system and methods it adopts and it should be capable of being passed on successfully to others. Furthermore, the financial returns on the operation of the franchised unit must be sufficient to enable the franchisee to obtain a reasonable return on the assets employed in the business, to earn a reasonable income and to pay the franchisor a reasonable fee for the services the latter supplies. The income generated by the franchisor from the operation of the franchise must in turn be sufficient to cover the franchisor's overhead costs and to permit it to earn a reasonable profit.

### (2) Economic Circumstances Affecting the Choice of a Vehicle

It is in the nature of master franchising that most of the investment in the host country is made by the sub-franchisor, the area developer or the franchisee, depending upon which type of franchising is opted for. This does not, however, mean that the franchisor does not have to make a substantial financial investment. Training must be provided for, an efficiently functioning structure for servicing and assistance to sub-franchisors and franchisees must be in place, adequate staffing to support the foreign sub-franchisors or franchisees *in loco* must be hired, the expenses involved in the registration of, for example, intellectual

property rights must be faced. It is clear that a certain cost is associated with each business technique. An evaluation must therefore be made by the parties with a view to determining which technique is the most cost-effective.

#### (3) The Experience of the Parties

The experience of the parties is of importance in a number of respects. If the parent company is considered first, it may be observed that there is a considerable difference between running a chain of wholly-owned outlets and running a network of units by means of a master franchise arrangement. If the prospective franchisor has no experience in franchising, it is probably advisable for it to proceed step by step, beginning with opening its own pilot operations before proceeding to franchise internationally. Furthermore, international franchising by means of a master franchise arrangement is different from franchising by means of a development agreement or direct unit franchising. If a franchisor has no experience in master franchising, it is advisable for it to acquire this experience in its own country before attempting to use master franchising abroad.

Previous experience with franchising is less important for the prospective sub-franchisor than for the franchisor. It would however be important for the prospective sub-franchisor or developer to have business experience, as the running of networks of businesses, particularly as large as master franchise or development networks, requires ability and professional knowledge.

Any contract is the natural reflection of the relative bargaining strength of the parties. What each of the parties is able to obtain from the other will therefore to a large extent depend upon their ability to negotiate and on the assets they are able to use in the bargaining process. Such assets may also be personal, such as the knowledge and experience of a prospective sub-franchisor in negotiating and implementing international transactions, or in the solving of legal and economic problems.

#### (4) The Division of Responsibilities and Revenue

The division of responsibilities between the parties will differ from one form of business to another. Within franchising itself, this division

will differ from one method of franchising to another. It is in the nature of master franchising that the responsibility of a sub-franchisor will be considerable: it is the sub-franchisor who is responsible for the development of the network, for providing training and assistance to the sub-franchisees and for supervising and enforcing the intellectual and industrial property rights of the franchisor. In the case of direct unit franchising the responsibility of the franchisee will be considerably less: it will not have any responsibility for a network, nor will it have to enforce the intellectual and industrial property rights of the franchisor. In all likelihood it will only be required to inform the franchisor of possible infringements. Similarly, the responsibility of an agent is different from that of a distributor, which again differs from that of a licensee.

The difference in responsibility will also be reflected in the revenue of each of the parties. The more responsibility a party has, the more revenue it is likely to retain. In the case of master franchising, the sub-franchisor must have sufficient revenue to be able to perform its obligations while at the same time permitting it to make a profit. The franchisor must however retain a sufficient revenue flow to account for its unique role in the relationship. Any decision on the vehicle to adopt will also reflect any shifts in responsibility and in the collection of revenue.

#### (5) Control

An important factor in deciding the most appropriate vehicle in a given situation is the degree of control exercised by the foreign partner over the local partner. In franchising that control is greater than in licensing or in distributorships. Furthermore, within franchising the degree of control will vary depending on the form of franchising adopted. The control is the most stringent when the direct involvement on the part of the franchisor is the greatest. There will therefore be least control on the part of the franchisor in master franchise arrangements, as it is in these that the involvement of the franchisor is the least, even if a certain amount of control will always remain. What is acceptable to the two parties will depend on a number of factors, including such subjective factors as personality. A stringent control might, for example, not be acceptable to a person of independent nature who may instead

be best able to perform when required to take initiatives. A balance between the interests of the two parties must be created also in this respect.

#### (6) The Risk Factor

Risk is an inherent part of any business and the assessment of the risk involved in the contemplated transaction involves attempting to evaluate the uncertain. One of the reasons for the popularity of franchising is the fact that the statistical information available for domestic unit franchising indicates that the failure rate of franchised businesses is substantially lower than that of other, more traditional forms of business. The uncertainty involved in business would therefore appear to be considerably reduced. It must however be stressed that while this is true of mature franchise systems, in which the concept has been tested and proved, the situation is different for young franchise systems. The risk of failure of the latter may in fact be greater than that of traditional businesses. A certain caution is therefore called for in the selection of a franchise, in particular in an international situation. The following remarks refer to mature franchise systems.

In franchising the risk is reduced for franchisors to the extent that they are not using their own capital to develop the network, but the franchisee's. In the case of franchisees the risk is reduced because the business concept they are investing in is proven and accepted by consumers. A sharing of the risk between the franchisor and the subfranchisor, who in most cases is the party in the best position to evaluate the risks of the host country, is often provided for in the contract or in the arrangements made.

Most of the risk factors involved are not unique to franchising, although there are those that may be considered to have particular relevance for this form of business. While it is true that risk is reduced because the franchisee uses a method that is tested and that has proved to be successful, it is also true that if there is too rigid a requirement of observance of the franchisor's blue-print, this might prevent the subfranchisor from introducing changes to the system that are essential to ensuring that the franchise is successful in that particular country, or

might unduly delay the introduction of modifications that have become necessary due to changes in circumstances. Specific terms of franchise agreements, such as the exclusive supply of products, are also to be included among the risk factors, as although they might offer certain guarantees at the beginning of the relationship (in the case of the exclusive supply of products they for example guarantee supplies), they might subsequently prevent the sub-franchisor from adopting an alternative that is more convenient to what is offered by the franchisor.

#### (i) Risk Factors to be considered by the Franchisor

In order to reduce uncertainty the franchisor will need to consider all the factors that might constitute an element of risk. In case of international franchising such risk factors may be grouped into two major categories: external and internal.

#### (α) External Risk Factors

Examples of external risk factors are the political situation in the prospective host country, expected economic developments, the possibility of trade embargoes and the fact that the necessary raw materials are found to be insufficient in quantity or quality. Most of the external factors are beyond the control of the franchisor, but the risk derived from these factors may be reduced by the gathering of more detailed information and by ensuring that the information that already is available is reliable.

#### (B) Internal Risk Factors

Internal risk factors include the organisational arrangements of the domestic operation of the franchisor and the financial and human resources available to it. If, for instance, the franchisor's system does not already have an office or unit able to handle the administration, training and control necessary in a master franchise arrangement, and which is also able to adapt its structure to the needs of the host country or countries, the franchisor will need to devote additional financial resources to the establishing of such an office or unit. The risk is that, if such factors are not taken into account, the international activities may create a heavy drain on the

financial and staff resources of the franchisor, thereby harming the domestic operations of the franchisor and ultimately also jeopardising its international activities.

#### (ii) Risk Factors to be considered by the Sub-Franchisor

To a certain extent the risk factors a sub-franchisor must evaluate are a mirror image of those a franchisor needs to consider. Thus, it is not only the franchisor who must consider the political climate of the host country, but also the sub-franchisor. In addition, the subfranchisor might have to face the prospect of paying penalties to the franchisor for non-compliance with the development schedule. If there is a trade embargo that effectively prevents the importation of raw materials that are needed for the franchise, the sub-franchisor will either have to resort to alternative sources of supply, or resign itself to finding that the network will not be able to provide goods or services that fit the specifications of the franchisor as to quality and maybe quantity. In the latter case the sub-franchisor would be open to claims from both the franchisor for not respecting the terms of their agreement and the sub-franchisees who are no longer in a position to provide customers with the quality goods or services that these expect.

#### II. THE SELECTION OF A SUB-FRANCHISOR

The selection of a competent sub-franchisor is of essence in master franchise arrangements. The master franchise relationship is one which is to last over time. It involves considerable investment on the part of both franchisor and sub-franchisor, often considerably more than first estimated, and it would be both difficult and expensive to correct any mistakes that are made by an incompetent sub-franchisor. The effects of selecting the wrong partner in terms both of the possible discrediting of the franchise system and of the loss of investment could therefore be devastating.

The attributes of a suitable sub-franchisor include initiative (although it should not be so independent that it will wish to break away from the system), management skills, the capacity to recognise the qualities of others and to motivate them, a commitment to the franchise system and in

general a willingness to operate for the promotion of the network as well as financial soundness. Experience in business and a general knowledge of local conditions, customs and laws are furthermore of considerable importance in a sub-franchisor.

#### III. THE SELECTION OF A FRANCHISE BY A PROSPECTIVE SUB-FRANCHISOR

The selection of the right franchisor is extremely important for sub-franchisors: a sub-franchisor must be in a position to evaluate the financial soundness of the franchisor, its efficiency and the assistance that it is prepared to offer. If the franchisor does not provide the training and assistance that the sub-franchisor is entitled to expect, or does not perform certain duties, such as for example the registration of the intellectual property with the appropriate authorities, or if the franchisor is not financially sound and goes bankrupt, the sub-franchisor will risk its investment. Of considerable importance is also the franchisor's experience with international business, with international franchising in particular, and with master franchise arrangements as opposed to other forms of franchising.

For the sub-franchisor to be able to make a correct evaluation of the franchise, of the franchisor's financial solidity, of the assistance provided by the franchisor and of the franchisor's relations with, and behaviour towards, the members of its network, sub-franchisors and franchisees alike, it is necessary for the sub-franchisor to make the effort to check the information it has received on the franchisor and the franchisor's history. In this connection contact with other sub-franchisors and franchisees is essential, so as to permit an exchange of views in which the sub-franchisors and franchisees can inform the prospective sub-franchisor of their experience with the franchisor. All too often a lack of due diligence in this respect has led to mistakes being made with a consequent loss of the investments made.

Internal factors are important also for the sub-franchisor, as a mistaken evaluation of the capability of, for example, its own staff, may create problems for the servicing of the network. It is essential for the sub-franchisor to make a serious and as correct an evaluation as possible of the means at its disposal, of the effectiveness with which it will be able to use them, and of the financial implications involved.

#### IV. NEGOTIATING INTERNATIONAL AGREEMENTS

Unit franchise agreements are at times identified with contracts of adhesion as franchisors tend to use standard agreements throughout their systems. The situation is different with master franchise agreements as these are normally negotiated extensively. This should come as no surprise, considering that the subject-matter of a master franchise agreement is the granting of franchise rights for a larger area, at times for a whole country or even for more than one country. Unless the country of the franchisor and that of the sub-franchisor are geographically and culturally close to each other, national differences in terms of language, culture, traditions, religion, law, and economic and social development will be such as to make modifications to the franchise system imperative if it is to be successful in the country of the sub-franchisor. A standard contract that has been tailor-made for use in one country is therefore unlikely to be suitable for another country. The importance of the negotiation process, in the course of which all the necessary modifications are agreed upon, is therefore considerably enhanced in the case of master franchise agreements, particularly in that of international master franchise arrangements.

The negotiations between the franchisor and the sub-franchisor are important also with a view to foreseeing possible future developments to the system. To the greatest extent possible changes to the system should be foreseen from the beginning and a procedure for the introduction of the necessary changes provided for.

The disclosure of information is of the utmost importance in the building of trust between the parties and for the creation of a mutually beneficial relationship. In the case of franchising pre-contractual disclosure is of particular importance. This involves the franchisor supplying the prospective franchisee with information that will permit it to have at its disposal all the elements necessary to evaluate the franchise it is proposing to acquire. This duty is closely linked with the duty of good faith and fair dealing. It is regulated in a number of countries, although with a varying amount of detail, <sup>16</sup> whereas in others it may be deemed to be implied.

<sup>16</sup> See Annex 3 to this Guide.

Although disclosure is usually considered only from the point of view of the information that the franchisor has to provide, it is equally important that the sub-franchisor or franchisee provides the franchisor with the information that it needs to evaluate the prospective sub-franchisor or franchisee. The disclosure should therefore be mutual. Furthermore, for the benefit of the relationship it would be preferable for this exchange of information to become a regular feature of the relationship between the parties.

Whether or not pre-contractual disclosure is as important in a master franchise relationship as in a sub-franchise relationship or a simple unit franchise relationship is disputed. In many cases the sub-franchisor is, or belongs to, a substantially larger economic unit than the franchisor itself. In any event it will invariably have considerable business experience. It may therefore be assumed that the prospective sub-franchisor has taken all the necessary pre-contractual measures and has sought information on the franchisor with the diligence required in any international business transaction. In the course of the negotiations it is nevertheless normal for a franchisor to reply to any questions that a prospective sub-franchisor might have and to furnish the required information. In this connection it should not be forgotten that a franchisor might be bound by any mandatory disclosure laws that might exist in the country concerned as these may apply also to master franchise relationships.

#### V. Drafting International Franchise Agreements

The master franchise relationship is often regulated by a number of documents in addition to the main master franchise agreement.. These may include a manual for the sub-franchisor, an operations manual that the sub-franchisor is to provide the sub-franchisees with regarding the operation of the unit, reports and records to be furnished to the sub-franchisee, advertising guidelines, separate agreements regarding the licensing of the intellectual property and any other licence agreements. <sup>17</sup> In a number of countries these and similar issues are dealt with in the framework of the main master franchise agreement, whereas in others they will instead form the subject-matter of one or more separate agreements. In a number of

<sup>17</sup> For a number of collateral agreements, see Chapter 19 "Ancillary Documents".

jurisdictions there may be mandatory rules on contract forms that require that all the obligations of the parties be set out in the contract document itself and be personally signed by them. In such cases it is not possible to refer to unsigned ancillary documents. The technique adopted will to a large extent depend upon the drafting techniques traditional in the country or countries concerned.<sup>18</sup>

In the case of international franchise agreements, as in that of any other international agreement, the question of the language and style in which the agreement should be drafted will be a matter of importance. 19 It is however not uncommon for franchisors to be reluctant to accept that their contracts may differ depending on the country in which they are operating. Franchisors will often prefer that with which they are familiar, be it the language of the agreements, the format in which the agreements are couched or the law that is to apply to them.<sup>20</sup> This is understandable, considering that franchisors operating internationally will often be active in a number of different countries and that their contracts would therefore need to be written in a considerable number of different languages and styles. This would naturally make it difficult for the franchisor and the franchisor's lawyers to maintain control over the operations. Regrettably, they do not always realise the considerable number of problems that they might run into if they insist on applying their own law, language and contract format. Practical considerations would appear to dictate that agreements should be drafted in the style and language of the country in which they are to be executed, as that is the country in which any disputes are likely to arise and in which they are to be decided.

One option is to adopt different approaches for the master franchise agreement and the sub-franchise agreements. In this case the master franchise agreement will conform more strictly to what the franchisor considers to be essential in terms of language, applicable law and drafting technique, whereas the sub-franchise agreements, which after all are contracts between the sub-franchisor and the sub-franchisoes, will instead conform to local requirements. Alternatively, the franchisor may draft the sub-franchise agreement in the first instance and have it reviewed by local

<sup>18</sup> See Chapter 19 "Ancillary Documents".

<sup>19</sup> See Sections (a) and (b) below.

<sup>20</sup> The question of the law applicable to the agreement is examined at greater length in Chapter 17.

counsel to ensure that it complies with local needs. It should however be pointed out that there is no clear-cut solution and that the situation in each country should be examined with the assistance of local counsel.

## (a) Language of the Agreement and of the Other Documents

In a majority of international master franchise relationships the language of the franchisor's country is different from that of the country of the sub-franchisor and sub-franchisees. The language of the agreements, as well as of any collateral documents, is therefore a critical and often sensitive issue.

In a number of countries it is even a point of law, as agreements must be in the local language to be valid. At the very least, a translation of the agreement into the local language must be annexed to the original agreement where this is in the language of the franchisor. This is especially important in countries in which agreements must be registered with the public authorities, as registration may not be possible if the agreement is not in the local language. In such cases it may be advisable for the parties to agree on which language should be authoritative in case of controversy, as there may be linguistic discrepancies between the two versions. It should however be borne in mind that the courts of the country of the sub-franchisor may not be able, or permitted, to take the version in the foreign language into consideration in reaching a decision.

It may appear to be logical or normal for the sub-franchisor, or for the officers of the sub-franchisor where the sub-franchisor is a corporate body, to be able to understand the language of the franchisor, particularly if it is one of the main languages used in international trade relations. This is however not necessarily the case, even if franchisors increasingly require a knowledge of their language to facilitate relations. Nor, if the sub-franchisor or its officers do speak the language of the franchisor, is it possible to assume that they will understand everything that is written in a detailed manual or that there will be no misunderstandings. It is therefore good business practice for all documentation, including manuals, to be also in the language of the sub-franchisor, so as to avoid misunderstandings or allegations of misrepresentation. The responsibility for the translation of the documentation may vary from case to case. In

many instances it will be the sub-franchisor who will be required first to translate the documentation at its own expense and then to submit it back to the franchisor. In case of discrepancy the franchisor's document will normally govern, on condition that this is enforceable in the country of the sub-franchisor.

The language requirements applicable to collateral or ancillary agreements will vary depending on the country and the type of agreement. Thus, for instance, licence agreements for intellectual property rights may need to be in the local language as they will in most instances have to be registered with the appropriate offices.

Manuals are documents that in most countries do not need to be deposited or registered with any government authority. The situation might therefore be different, although a number of considerations need to be made in this connection. A first consideration is that there may be more than one manual: a manual for the sub-franchisor, containing all the instructions and information that the sub-franchisor needs to have to be able to act in place and on behalf of the franchisor in its country or area, and secondly the manual that the sub-franchisor will supply sub-franchisees with, detailing all that is necessary for the running of the single units. Of these two different types of manual the second is by far the more common. A vast majority of franchise systems have manuals for the franchisees or sub-franchisees, but only few franchisors supply sub-franchisors with a manual.

If it is advisable for the franchisor to provide the sub-franchisor with a manual in the language of the sub-franchisor, it is essential for the franchisor and/or sub-franchisor to provide sub-franchisees with a manual in the local language. Sub-franchisees cannot be expected to have a sufficient knowledge of the language of the franchisor for a manual to be provided only in that language. Furthermore, it might be necessary to vary the contents of the manual to take local requirements into account. A close collaboration between the franchisor and the sub-franchisor, who is usually best placed to determine the modifications that must be made to the manual to conform to local requirements, is therefore essential. Questions of copyright (who is to own the copyright to the modified manual) and of costs (who should pay for the translation and also for

publishing or duplication) are best determined in the agreement between the franchisor and the sub-franchisor.

Changes in signage, menus, labelling, or advertising may be necessary in some markets but not in others as a result of differences in language. It is also often necessary to translate and adapt the trademarks to the local market.

Other questions to be determined in relation to language are the language in which any submissions to the franchisor should be made, for example proposals for advertising or progress reports and reports on the franchisees in the territory.

#### (b) Drafting Technique

The style in which contracts are drafted varies from family of legal systems to family of legal systems, sometimes even between countries within a family of legal systems, as a result of the specific requirements of each. These requirements are often the result of the historical development of the legal system concerned. Thus, the legal systems that, for example, are derived from, or have been inspired by, Roman law will have requirements that are different from those that are derived from the English common law. These differences are reflected in the manner in which the national legislation is drafted, but also in the drafting of all legal acts.

A common observation is that contracts in common law countries are longer and more detailed than those drafted in civil law countries. This observation is accurate, even if the reasons for this difference are not always reflected upon. In general, the length and detail of contracts is related to the way in which the legislation is drafted and to the procedure adopted by the courts in adjudicating disputes.

#### (1) Civil Law Legal Systems

A number of different legal systems are normally grouped together under the term "civil law legal systems". These include the legal systems that are the descendants of Roman law, such as the French, Italian and Spanish legal systems and the legal systems that have drawn inspiration from them, for example Latin American and a number of North African legal systems; the Germanic systems that are derived

from German law (Germany, Austria, Switzerland) and the legal systems inspired by them, such as the Japanese and the Eastern European systems before the advent of Socialism, and also the Scandinavian legal systems which, however, constitute a separate grouping.

With the exception of the Scandinavian legal systems, a characteristic of the legal systems of the civil law tradition is the systematic codification of different areas of law (civil law, commercial law or criminal law). The result is a body of law which is organised in a systematic manner and which often contains a detailed regulation of a number of subject-matters that in other legal systems are left to the determination of the parties. A number of these provisions are mandatory and may therefore not be derogated from, whereas others are non-mandatory, with the result that their subject-matter may be determined and regulated by the parties.

As a large number of issues are regulated by the legislative instruments, there is less need for the contracts to enter into great detail except where the parties feel that a certain amount of detail is necessary or desirable. This may particularly be the case where the parties want to give a precise indication of their agreed will to any court that may come to analyse the agreement in the future. This may be of considerable importance as courts will in some jurisdictions have the power to interpret contracts and to modify the terms of the agreement if they are considered to be unfair. Furthermore, if an item that is dealt with in the non-mandatory provisions of the codes is not provided for more specifically in the contract, the provisions of the codes will always apply no matter what is laid down in the contract.

#### (2) The Common Law Legal Systems

What first strikes a lawyer educated in the civil law tradition when confronted with a contract from a common law jurisdiction is its length. The great detail with which provisions are drafted is unheard of in civil law jurisdictions. The reason for this great detail is to be found in the strict adherence of courts to the word of the statutes. This has created a need for contracts to be extremely detailed so as to cover every possible contingency.

#### (c) Drafting Alternatives

A number of different drafting alternatives are possible. Which is the most suitable will depend on the jurisdiction in which the contract is to be implemented. The main alternatives are firstly, a comprehensive contract in the common law style, covering every possible condition and event; secondly a written document containing references to other documents, such as ancillary agreements or general conditions of trade; and thirdly a short contract with reference to the applicable legislation. The second and third options might of course be combined, in that it is possible to have a contract that refers to both legislation and ancillary agreements or other documentation.

These alternatives are available for the contract as a whole, but also for specific terms thereof, such as the arbitration clause. This clause may be written with a certain amount of detail, or may be extremely short, referring simply to the type of arbitration to be resorted to in case of dispute (for example, ICC arbitration).

#### VI. INTERNATIONALISING THE FRANCHISE SYSTEM

A franchise system that is expanding abroad will in most cases need to be modified before it enters the foreign market, as it will be necessary for it to adapt to the local conditions of the prospective host country. The franchise agreement and the ancillary documents will consequently also need to be adapted by the franchisor to cover the local requirements of the prospective host country. Among the factors to be considered in this connection are the following:

- (a) the language of the documentation and of the agreement;<sup>21</sup>
- (b) currency issues: the agreement should specify the currency in which payments are to be made. Special provisions may be required if the host country has currency restriction laws in place;<sup>22</sup>
- (c) tax issues: payments made to a franchisor, including the payment of initial franchise fees, royalty fees and, in some cases, advertising fees, are typically subject to income and withholding tax. Many countries have double taxation treaties that reduce the withholding

<sup>21</sup> See the discussion on language above, page 16 ff.

<sup>22</sup> See Chapter 4.

- rate or eliminate such taxes altogether. A reduction of the taxes to a minimum will usually require a sophisticated analysis of tax credits, tax treaties and of the sources of the franchisor's income;<sup>23</sup>
- (d) trademark considerations: a number of countries require use for protection to be granted trademarks. In order to satisfy this requirement some of these countries will require that any licensed use of a trademark or service mark be recorded with the trademark authorities in the form of a registered user agreement. It is also necessary for the franchisor to consider the advisability of adapting its trademarks and signage to the local market;<sup>24</sup>
- (e) cultural differences: many franchise systems adapt to differences in the cultures or tastes of different countries by developing countryspecific products, flavours, or formulations;
- (f) supply arrangements: the supply arrangements made by a franchisor in its own country may not be suitable for markets located at a great distance from the franchisor's country. In the international franchise agreement adequate provision must therefore be made to ensure that a constant supply of approved products is available to distant franchisees;<sup>25</sup>
- (g) competition laws: antitrust, or competition, laws often affect practices that are inherent in many franchise systems, such as exclusive dealing arrangements, tying arrangements, price fixing and covenants not to compete. It may therefore be necessary to adapt the franchise agreement to ensure that it does not fall under the applicable competition law;<sup>26</sup> and
- (h) dispute resolution: while a purely domestic franchise relationship will in most cases not give rise to questions of choice of law and jurisdiction, this is not the case in an international relationship. Franchisors with foreign operations will in fact need to give special attention to choice of law and jurisdiction in their agreements. In doing so, they will need to consider whether the countries of the parties are signatories to any relevant convention or treaty.<sup>27</sup>

<sup>23</sup> See Chapter 4.

<sup>24</sup> See Chapter 10.

<sup>25</sup> See Chapter 9.

<sup>26</sup> See Annex 3.

<sup>27</sup> See Chapter 17.

#### VII. SUBSEQUENT CHANGES

Franchise agreements, particularly master franchise agreements, are normally intended to last for several years. It will therefore be necessary to introduce adaptations of, and modifications to, the system in the course of the relationship as well as at the beginning, when the system is first adapted to local conditions.<sup>28</sup>

In a three-tier franchise system the sub-franchisor will be the party principally responsible for ensuring that the necessary modifications are implemented by the sub-franchisees. The agreement and manual are likely to be the primary instruments through which change will be effected, as the sub-franchisor may not be in a position to offer inducements, to provide financial assistance, or to make concessions to the franchisees in exchange for the introduction of the modifications.

Whether or not a proposed modification will be considered to be reasonable, or even feasible, will in part be conditioned by the cost of introducing it. The extent to which the cost of introducing a proposed modification is substantially different in countries other than the franchisor's own country may have an influence on the decision of whether or not the modification should be implemented throughout the system world-wide and, if this is to be the case, on the time schedule and on the allocation of responsibility for the actual implementation of the changes. Franchisors often try out changes in their countries of origin before imposing them on franchisees in other countries. In many cases the market in other countries may not be ripe for change. This is the case when, for example, local suppliers are not able to comply with new product specifications.

Many changes introduced in a domestic franchise network may not be feasible in a foreign setting. A franchisor that, for example, begins to distribute its products through alternate channels of distribution such as supermarkets, or that permits its franchisees to sell at satellite locations from carts or kiosks, may not be prepared or equipped to implement the same changes in its overseas operations.

<sup>28</sup> See Chapter 12 "System Changes".

#### **CHAPTER 2**

# NATURE AND EXTENT OF RIGHTS GRANTED AND RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

The granting of the right to use the franchisor's franchise system is the cornerstone of the relationship between the franchisor and the franchisee. In master franchising the three-tier structure of the arrangement makes it necessary for both the master franchise agreement and each of the sub-franchise agreements to include a provision granting the rights concerned. These provisions are fundamentally similar, even if that of the master franchise agreement will, in addition to specifying the rights that the sub-franchisor itself is granted, delimit the rights that the sub-franchisor is authorised to grant the sub-franchisees.

The grant provision grants the sub-franchisor the right to expand the franchise system in the manner and within the limits provided for in the provision itself. It licences the sub-franchisor to use the specified assets of the franchisor. Each of the licensed assets may be classified under one of two basic categories of intellectual property: that which identifies the franchise (trademarks, for instance), and know-how. The grant provision thus typically defines:

- what assets are licensed to the sub-franchisor;
- the purpose for which the licensed assets may be used;
- the geographic territory within which those assets may be used;
- when and/or for how long the sub-franchisor may use those assets;
   and
- the degree of exclusivity given to the sub-franchisor (i.e. the extent to which others are restricted or barred from using the licensed assets in the same manner and territory).

CHAPTER 2 35

#### A. WHAT IS GRANTED

The franchisor will typically provide a sub-franchisor with know-how concerning the business, with a trademark licence and with any other intellectual property rights that are involved in the type of business concerned. For convenience, the parties will often include the know-how and the identifying characteristics under two basic definitions in the franchise agreement: the system and the trademarks. The system includes all aspects of the business system that the franchisor has set up, including all the know-how that comprises the franchised business method and all the identifying characteristics. The trademarks are the words and symbols that identify the franchise system and distinguish it from others.

#### I. SYSTEM

The definition of the system will usually briefly describe the business that is the subject of the franchise, whereas the full details will normally be contained in an operations manual that gives instructions on the proper operation of the franchise; management techniques such as inventory controls, record keeping, personnel practices and purchasing; characteristics of the products; marketing or advertising methods; as well as whatever other aspects of the business are considered to form part of the system that the sub-franchisor is called upon to develop.<sup>2</sup> The definition will normally include:

- a description of the nature of the business, including the methods, procedures and techniques of operation, quality assurance techniques, distinctive and standardised designs for products, premises or facilities:
- a reference to the know-how that comprises the system;
- a reference to the trademarks, logos, trade names, trade dress and other identifying characteristics of the system;
- a description of key aspects of the business method that make it unique; and
- a description of the goodwill of the name, as well as of the uniform and attractive public image that all franchised units are required to reflect.

See Chapters 10 "Intellectual Property" and 11 "Know-How and Trade Secrets".

See Chapter 5, Section C "Manuals".

Depending on the nature of the franchise, the know-how transmitted will normally include marketing methods, product formulations, product preparation and delivery techniques, purchasing procedures, sanitation methods, quality standards and control, training, inventory management, record keeping, design of facilities and the like. Most franchise systems adopt the business format approach, which involves virtually all aspects of doing business that might be important for the success of the franchise.<sup>3</sup> The know-how thus represents the ensemble of experience gained by the franchisor in the course of its activity as entrepreneur and as franchisor. It is this experience that the franchisor has used to develop procedures and methods that are effective for its type of business. The single elements of the know-how may not be unique, what is unique is instead the manner in which the different elements are combined and used. The single elements of this commercial know-how are therefore not protected, nor is it possible to protect them as they are freely accessible to all. It is only where the know-how is secret that it is possible to protect it and to proceed against anyone who has acquired the know-how by illegitimate means.

In a majority of franchise systems the know-how acquires great value by having been developed into a system which is identified by the distinguishing trademarks and by other proprietary assets. This value is further enhanced by the increasing number of uniform franchised units which contribute to the creation of the strong image and goodwill associated with a franchise system, particularly if it is large.

The grant of franchise rights may be compared with a package deal, in that it normally includes a licence to use all the know-how, both proprietary and non-proprietary. This avoids any doubt as to whether the sub-franchisor is gaining access to all the rights that are understood as forming part of the franchise.

#### II. TRADEMARKS

The franchisor will invariably own trademarks, or in some cases also service marks, that are associated with the system. The grant will include the rights to use, and if possible to sub-licence the use of, these trademarks.<sup>4</sup> In some countries it may be possible within the framework of trademark law to

See Annex 1, Section B "Business Format Franchising".

See, in particular, Chapter 10, Section A, Sub-Section VI "Sub-Licensing of Trademark".

CHAPTER 2 37

protect what is called "trade dress". Trade dress is the overall appearance of the franchised operations. This may also be protectable under unfair competition laws or, in common law countries, by passing off actions.

#### III. OTHER INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS

There are other intellectual property rights that may be involved, of which the principal one is copyright. Copyright extends to a wide range of material that may be used within a franchise system. Examples would include menu cards, advertising materials, operations manuals and software. Specific design or other design rights that might be capable of registration may also be available. Where a patented product is involved, consideration may have to be given to whether a licence to exploit it is necessary.

#### B. How the Licensed Assets May be Used

The way in which the sub-franchisor may employ the system is specified in the other terms of the grant clause. There are three basic alternatives: the sub-franchisor may be given the right to sub-licence others to use the system; the sub-franchisor may be given the right to develop and operate its own franchised units using the system; or the sub-franchisor may be licensed to engage in both of these activities.

When the master franchise agreement grants the sub-franchisor the right to develop and operate its own franchise units, the franchisor and the sub-franchisor may conclude a separate unit franchise agreement for each of those units. In this case the master franchise agreement will be able to focus on the sub-franchisor's role as sub-franchisor, without having to include clauses that relate to the opening and operation of the single units.

A disadvantage of requiring separate unit franchise agreements is that each unit agreement is an international agreement and will therefore be subject to any regulations and requirements applicable to international licence agreements in the countries concerned. Compliance with such regulations and requirements is often time-consuming and expensive. On the other hand, separate unit franchise agreements can provide sub-fran-

See Chapter 10, cit.

chisors with a flexibility and independence that will enable them to operate much more efficiently in the area they are to develop. Whether or not a separate unit franchise agreement should be required must be decided on a case-by-case basis.

It is not uncommon for the master franchise agreement to expressly prohibit the sub-franchisor from operating units itself (except perhaps through an affiliated company). 6 In such cases the sub-franchisor acts as the local facilitator of the international franchise transaction under which the sub-franchisee establishes and operates franchised units using the franchisor's trademarks and other intellectual property.

It should be noted that the grant of trademark rights may be limited in the master franchise agreement to rights that are necessary for the sub-franchisor to perform its functions as sub-franchisor, namely the granting of trademark sub-licences to the sub-franchisees and the right to use the trademarks in connection with the recruitment, appointment and supervision of sub-franchisees.

#### C. WHERE THE RIGHTS MAY BE EMPLOYED

The geographic territory in which the sub-franchisor may engage in the franchised business is defined in the grant clause.

The franchisor has an interest in limiting the territory to a size which can realistically be developed and managed by the sub-franchisor. If the territory is too large, parts of it will not be properly developed because the sub-franchisor will not have the personnel or financial resources necessary to do so.

The sub-franchisor often insists on a territory that is larger than its current resources can support, as it wishes to be able in the future to capitalise on the success of its experiences. This desire is often tempered by the franchisor's expectation of a large initial up-front payment for the expanded territory.

A number of solutions are possible to address the competing interests of the franchisor and the sub-franchisor regarding the size of the territory. It is possible for the franchisor to grant the sub-franchisor contingent rights to other territories in addition to the initial territory, to permit the sub-

<sup>6</sup> See Chapter 6, Section A "Pilot Operations".

CHAPTER 2 39

franchisor to expand its territory if certain conditions are satisfied, or to give the sub-franchisor a right of first refusal when the development of additional territories is considered. It should be noted that when these rights are given, they substantially limit the franchisor's possibilities to permit qualified and interested third parties to develop the additional territory.

Although the territory granted is identified in the grant clause, other clauses may determine whether the territory as initially defined will remain unvaried for the whole duration of the agreement. The sub-franchisor may for example be required to open sub-franchised units at a certain pace in order to be allowed to maintain its rights to the initial territory granted, or the agreement may provide for a reduction in the size of the territory for which the sub-franchisor has authority if that pace of development is not kept. Conversely, there may be a provision which grants the sub-franchisor an expanded territory if certain development objectives are met.

Irrespective of the above considerations, it should however be stressed that it is in the interest of both franchisor and sub-franchisor to delimit the boundaries of the territory of the franchise, in terms of size and cultural requirements, in such a manner that the sub-franchisor, given its resources and commitment, can reasonably be expected to develop it during the term of the franchise agreement.

#### D. EXCLUSIVITY V. NON-EXCLUSIVITY

For the sub-franchisor to be able to determine the exact extent of the rights it is being granted, it is important for it to be aware of any exclusions from, or limitations of, those rights. It is in the section of the master franchise agreement that lists the rights granted to the sub-franchisor that any indications of such exclusions or limitations are normally to be found.

In this connection it is naturally particularly important for the sub-franchisor to be aware of any limitations in its right to use the trademarks or the franchise system, as these form the essence of the franchise. Furthermore, if the sub-franchisor is granted any type of territorial protection, it is important for the conditions of such protection to be clearly set out. It might moreover be useful if the agreement were to deal expressly with a number of rights that the franchisor may reserve for itself and that

often become points of contention. These include:

- the right to incorporate new trademarks and logos into the system;
- the right to use and license the marks to others for different uses;
- the right to modify the business format, operating procedures and standards;
- the right to sell products with registered trademarks through alternative channels of distribution; and
- the right to establish or operate additional or different distribution systems.

A master franchise agreement that expressly permits the franchisor to implement such changes is more likely to withstand the argument that such modifications violate good faith and fair dealing and other similar duties that might be imposed by law, than is a more generally formulated agreement. The possible relevance and effects of legislation relating to unfair contract terms, unequal bargaining power and unfair competition should also be considered in this connection. The franchisor might further wish to exercise care, so as to ensure that an express indication that certain specified rights are reserved to it, is not taken to imply that other rights that are not expressly indicated in the reservation of rights are excluded.

The grant clause will specify the extent to which the rights granted to the sub-franchisor are to be considered exclusive. Exclusivity can mean different things. It can mean that the sub-franchisor is granted the exclusive right to franchise in the territory, which would not exclude the franchisor from operating its own outlets, but it can also mean that the franchisor is excluded from doing just that. There are three basic categories of persons other that the sub-franchisor who may be granted the right to use some or all of the licensed assets in the licensed territory: the franchisor itself; other sub-franchisors or unit franchisees; and other persons who may be authorised to use some of the licensed assets in the territory, but not as part of a franchised business. Agreement has to be reached on what the exclusivity will relate to, on whether it will prevent the franchisor from using or exploiting other marketing methods, such as the setting up of competing networks.

As indicated above, the franchisor may propose reserving the right to sell certain products associated with the franchise system through third persons not operating within the franchise network. A certain product may, for example, be offered through retail outlets such as supermarkets or the

CHAPTER 2 41

shop around the corner, or by means such as catalogue and Internet sales. The franchisor may hope to increase its market penetration by providing for product distribution by these, and many other, alternative means. This may cause problems for the sub-franchisor and sub-franchisees, in that while the total quantity of franchised products sold in their territory might increase, the sales made through the franchised units may actually be reduced as a result of the alternative methods.

There is obviously potential for conflict between franchisor and sub-franchisor as a result. One solution is for the sub-franchisor to be granted the right to distribute the products through all channels of distribution in the franchised territory. Another is for the franchisor and sub-franchisor to form a joint venture and then to share in the alternative distribution activities and benefits. In any event, the possibility of products being distributed outside the franchised system is best addressed specifically, as a typical grant clause will not include such important rights.

It is common for the sub-franchisor to request an exclusive right to use the licensed assets in the territory granted, as it wishes to have the assurance that its commitment of resources to the development of the franchised system will not be undercut by similar efforts on the part of others. This perspective will in most cases be shared by the franchisor, who will be willing to grant exclusive rights to the sub-franchisor in order to foster the greatest possible commitment on its part.

## E. THE THREE-TIERED STRUCTURE OF MASTER FRANCHISE ARRANGEMENTS

The granting of rights is further complicated by the realities of master franchising. The three tiers of master franchise arrangements are logically inter-dependent, anything that affects one level also affects the other two. In structuring the master franchise relationship, the franchisor and sub-franchisor will therefore need to have regard also to the needs of the sub-franchisees.

The scope of the rights granted the sub-franchisor under the master franchise agreement will naturally affect the rights and obligations of the sub-franchisor and sub-franchisee under the sub-franchise agreement. The sub-franchisor cannot grant the sub-franchisees more extensive rights than those it has acquired under the master franchise agreement. Specific

prohibitions contained in the master franchise agreement may furthermore be echoed in the sub-franchise agreement. The extent of freedom a sub-franchisor will have when converting a system for its own needs is one of the controversial points.

It is common for the master franchise agreement to impose an obligation on the sub-franchisor to include specific provisions in the individual sub-franchise agreements on matters of particular importance to the franchisor. Franchisors may thus require that their standard domestic franchise agreement and system standards serve as the basic elements in the sub-franchise relationship in the foreign country. Under the typical international master franchise agreement, the franchisor will provide the sub-franchisor with copies of its domestic franchise agreement and systems standards manual. The sub-franchisor will be required to convert the franchise agreement into a form sub-franchise agreement that is appropriate for its sub-franchisees, to make sure that the documents meet local legal requirements, to modify the documents so as to make them consistent with local custom and to translate them into the local language.

The master franchise agreement may also provide that the franchisor's prior consent or approval must be obtained regarding various matters relating to the sub-franchisor's relationship with its sub-franchisees, to the terms of each sub-franchise agreement and/or relating to the sub-franchisees' operation of the local sub-franchised units. The master franchise agreement may, for example, require that the sub-franchisor obtain the franchisor's approval of each prospective sub-franchisee and of each transfer of the sub-franchised business to a new sub-franchisee. The master franchise agreement may further require the franchisor's approval of the terms of each sub-franchise agreement, especially if there are deviations from the standard form agreement previously approved by the franchisor. The sub-franchisee's site selection, site plans and drawings and mark usage are other areas for which the master franchise agreement may require the franchisor's approval.

It may however not be practical for the franchisor to control these aspects of a sub-franchise in another country, even if it does control such matters in relation to its domestic franchisees. This may be due to the administrative costs, time delays and/or cultural differences involved. There may furthermore be liability implications, as the nature of the relationship

See Chapter 5 "The Role of the Franchisor".

between the franchisor and the sub-franchisor may be considered to have changed if the franchisor retains such extensive rights of control. The two might in other words no longer be considered to be two independent entrepreneurs, but two branches of the same entity. It will therefore in all probability be more practical for the franchisor to leave these approval responsibilities to the sub-franchisor. If, however, the franchisor does not wish to grant full discretion to the sub-franchisor in this regard, it may in the master franchise agreement establish minimum criteria to be used by the sub-franchisor. Alternatively, the franchisor may retain responsibility for the approval process, but provide in the master franchise agreement that it may delegate such responsibility to the sub-franchisor in writing once the sub-franchisor has demonstrated its ability to exercise such discretion to the satisfaction of the franchisor. If the franchisor insists on retaining approval responsibility for some matters relating to the sub-franchised business, the franchisor and sub-franchisor should establish the procedures of the approval process in such a manner that the sub-franchised business is not unduly hampered. It may, for example, be appropriate if certain matters submitted to the franchisor for approval are deemed to have been approved if the franchisor does not object within a certain specified period of time after submission.

Master franchise agreements will usually require the sub-franchisor to comply with all regulatory requirements applicable to the offering and sale of franchises in the host country. The sub-franchisor is thus typically required to prepare and distribute materials offering the franchise to prospective sub-franchisees and to register with the appropriate government authorities, when necessary. The sub-franchisor may in addition be required to indemnify the franchisor for any liability resulting from the sub-franchisor's failure to comply with such regulatory requirements.

The master franchise agreement may require the sub-franchisor to grant franchises to prospective sub-franchises identified by the franchisor. If development requirements are imposed on the sub-franchisor, then the master franchise agreement should indicate whether sub-franchisees identified by the franchisor are to be additional to those identified by the sub-franchisor, or whether they should be understood as forming part of the number required of the sub-franchisor by the development schedule.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See Chapter 20 "Regulatory Requirements".

International master franchise agreements typically require the sub-franchisor to submit periodic reports on the operation of the sub-franchised units to the franchisor. In order to permit the sub-franchisor to comply with the deadlines for the submission of such reports, it is important that the sub-franchise agreements require the sub-franchisees to submit all the necessary information to the sub-franchisor sufficiently in advance of the deadline.

If a franchisor intends to benefit from certain provisions in the sub-franchise agreements, it should consider requiring that it be expressly recognised as a third party beneficiary under the agreements, if this is permissible under the applicable law. Thus, for example, the indemnification provisions in the sub-franchise agreements may be drafted so as to expressly include the franchisor as a beneficiary of the indemnity, and the insurance provisions may also require the franchisor to be named as an additional insured in the sub-franchisee's insurance policies.<sup>9</sup>

#### F. DIRECT CONTRACTUAL RELATIONS

Although under the typical master franchise arrangement there is no direct contractual relationship between a franchisor and a sub-franchisee, there may be situations in which such a direct relationship is necessary, and others in which it is desirable, as the advantages of such an arrangement outweigh the disadvantages.

The laws of some jurisdictions may, for example, not offer sufficient protection to franchisors who transfer technology or other intellectual property unless there is a direct contractual relationship between the owner of the intellectual property (the franchisor) and the user (the sub-franchisee). Other jurisdictions may not recognise the sub-licensing of intellectual property rights, which is a key element in master franchise arrangements. In those jurisdictions the franchisor will usually insist on establishing a direct contractual relationship with the sub-franchisees, even if only in relation to those particular rights.

The most common reason for the creation of direct contractual relations between the franchisor and the sub-franchisee in the master franchise context, is for the enforcement of intellectual property rights. A direct

<sup>9</sup> See Chapter 14 "Vicarious Liability, Indemnification and Insurance".

CHAPTER 2 45

contractual relationship between the franchisor and the sub-franchisees may, however, be considered even when it is not necessary for the protection of the franchisor's intellectual property, as this would increase the franchisor's ability itself to control the sub-franchisees and to enforce the provisions of the sub-franchise agreements, thus reducing its need to rely on the sub-franchisor to do so. This may be especially important in jurisdictions that do not recognise a third party beneficiary's right to enforce a contract for its benefit. Direct contractual relationships may also have the result that the franchisor will to some extent be involved in local operational matters and that it will provide some support and assistance directly to the sub-franchisees. It should however be pointed out that the consequences of direct contractual relationships may also include the endangering of the independent status of the parties and consequently an increased risk of legal liability for the franchisor, both as to claims by sub-franchisees for non-performance and as to local legal matters affecting the sub-franchised businesses.

In the case of master franchise arrangements, direct contractual relationships are commonly created in either one of two ways. Firstly, the parties may combine the master franchise agreement and the sub-franchise agreement into a single, tripartite franchise agreement between the franchisor, the sub-franchisor and the sub-franchisee, under which the franchisor grants the sub-franchisor the right to sell and service the sub-franchisee, the sub-franchisor sells a sub-franchise to the sub-franchisee and the franchisor directly licences the sub-franchisee to use the intellectual property concerned. In this case a separate tripartite agreement will be necessary for each sub-franchise granted.

Secondly, and more commonly, the franchisor and the sub-franchisee enter into a licence agreement under which the franchisor grants the sub-franchisee a licence to use the intellectual property in connection with the operation of the sub-franchised business. This licence agreement is separate from the master franchise agreement between the franchisor and the sub-franchisor and from the sub-franchise agreement between the sub-franchisor and the sub-franchisee. In this case the sub-franchisee is required to execute the licence agreement as a condition for entering into

the sub-franchise agreement with the sub-franchisor and both agreements typically include cross-default provisions.

In jurisdictions that do not recognise sub-licensing, an alternative to this approach is the appointment of the sub-franchisor as the franchisor's agent for trademark licensing purposes. In these cases the sub-franchisor will perform the services necessary to licence the franchisor's intellectual property to the sub-franchisees on behalf of the franchisor.

Even in jurisdictions where a separate licence agreement is not initially needed, franchisors will often include an express provision in the master franchise agreement reserving the right to enter into direct licence agreements with the sub-franchisees if they determine that the lack of direct contractual relations presents a risk to their intellectual property. In such cases this option should be reflected in the sub-franchise agreement.

The direct relationship between the franchisor and the sub-franchisees may in some cases extend beyond what is necessary for the protection of trademark rights, in that franchisors may at times retain the right to inspect the premises of each sub-franchised unit, as well as each unit's accounting books and records.

The advisability of establishing such close relations between the franchisor and the sub-franchisees might be questioned. While the security of the sub-franchisees and of the franchise system might benefit from, might indeed require that, the franchisor is able to take the place of the sub-franchisor if the latter is unable to continue performing its duties, a right of the franchisor to control the operation of the sub-franchised units, and to intervene in case of malfunctioning units, concurrent with that of the sub-franchisor is likely to cause problems. The authority of the sub-franchisor would be undermined and the lines of demarcation of the rights and obligations of the franchisor, sub-franchisor and sub-franchisees blurred. The possibility that the franchisor might be held liable for the acts or omissions of the sub-franchisees would also increase.

#### **CHAPTER 3**

# TERM OF THE AGREEMENT AND CONDITIONS OF RENEWAL

#### A. LENGTH OF THE TERM OF THE AGREEMENT

Lengthy initial terms of duration are common in the case of master franchise agreements. Terms of twenty years or more are not unknown, nor are options granting the sub-franchisor the right to renew the master franchise agreement for a further term of twenty years. Successive options to renew the agreement for twenty years each may also be provided for.

In a number of countries the maximum or minimum terms of agreements are fixed by law or by judicial precedent and any such limitation will naturally apply also to master franchise agreements. In others, a limitation of the term of a franchise agreement which may result from any other applicable legislation, may apply also to master franchise agreements. A limitation in rights must at times be added to this limitation in duration, in that at the end of the term of the master franchise agreement it may not always be possible for the franchisor to protect its know-how, as this may be deemed to have become the property of the sub-franchisor.

It should be observed that there are jurisdictions in which the fact that a definite term is not indicated in the agreement may have the effect that the agreement is considered to be one of indefinite duration. This may also be the case if the provision dealing with the term of the agreement is badly drafted.

#### I. LONG TERMS

An argument in favour of lengthy terms for master franchise agreements is the fact that central to the master franchise arrangement is the granting of the right to sub-franchise to the sub-franchisor. Insofar as the expiration of the term of the master franchise agreement may by operation of law result in the termination of the sub-franchise agreements, expiration will impact directly not only on the relationship between the franchisor

and the sub-franchisor, but also on the future of all sub-franchisees, none of whom is a party to the master franchise agreement. It should also be pointed out that it is generally accepted good practice for an adequately long term to be granted, so as to enable the sub-franchisor to get a return on its investment and to motivate the sub-franchisor to develop the territory fully. The considerable investment that is required of the sub-franchisor in establishing the franchise network would thus argue against applying shorter terms to master franchise agreements.

In addition, in a number of countries, especially developing countries, in which approval of agreements by the competent authorities is required, long-term arrangements may be viewed favourably by those authorities and may indeed result in tax concessions.

#### II. SHORT TERMS

From the franchisor's point of view the standard rationale for short terms, at least for domestic agreements, is that it must be given the opportunity to update its franchise agreement so as to reflect legal developments, fundamental changes to the franchise system and changes to the financial situation. Regrettably, not all franchisors will always realise the fundamental differences between domestic and international franchising and will therefore attempt to apply their domestic experience to international franchising. They will therefore insist on entering into international master franchise agreements for shorter terms, such as five or ten years. This is however not always appropriate and sub-franchisors in international arrangements will be loathe to subject themselves to the uncertainties of what the market place may dictate in the future.

Another problem associated with short term international master franchise agreements is the gradual loss of motivation on the part of the sub-franchisor as the expiration of the term of the master franchise agreement draws nearer.

#### **B.** CONDITIONS OF RENEWAL

The renewal of the term of the master franchise agreement, if renewal is possible, is typically subject to the fulfilment of certain conditions. These

CHAPTER 3 49

conditions include a number or all of the following:

- (a) that the sub-franchisor is not in default of a material obligation at the time of renewal, independently of whether or not such default has been cured, and that the sub-franchisor substantially observed and performed its obligations during the term of the master franchise agreement;
- (b) that the sub-franchisor does not have any monetary default at the time of renewal;
- (c) that the sub-franchisor sign a general release of any claims that it may have against the franchisor; and
- (d) that the sub-franchisor inform the franchisor of its intention to renew the agreement in the prescribed manner and within a set period of time prior to the expiration of the term of the master franchise agreement.

A condition for the renewal of a domestic franchise agreement will often be that the franchisee accept to enter into the franchise agreement of the franchisor that is current at the time of renewal. More than a renewal of the agreement, it will in other words be a matter of entering in to a new agreement, even if the franchisee may be granted a certain preferential treatment, in that it may not have to pay a second initial fee. Franchisors who base themselves on their domestic experience may therefore not only insist that the term of the master franchise be of short duration, they may also insist that the sub-franchisor be given the right to renew the agreement for an additional term or terms only on condition that it enter into the franchisor's then current form of international master franchise agreement. In an international situation, however, the agreement current at the time of renewal will almost by definition not be the agreement then offered in that particular territory, as it is unlikely that there will be more than one master franchise arrangement in any territory, but will be the agreement offered somewhere else in the world.

While there are considerable advantages in requiring the adoption of the agreement current at the time of renewal in terms of maintaining the uniformity of a franchise system, this may create certain problems in the case of international franchise agreements. Rights are granted to sub-franchisees on the basis of the first contract and this makes it difficult to adopt another agreement in case of renewal. The unit franchise agreements entered into by the sub-franchisor with its sub-franchisees are dependent on the master franchise agreement. Any modifications of the master franchise agreement may therefore impact on existing unit franchise agreements. International master franchise agreements are furthermore typically negotiated, with the consequence that it might not be realistic to require that the sub-franchisor upon renewal enter into the franchisor's then current form of international master franchise agreement.

There are furthermore situations in which particular provisions are certain to remain unchanged, such as those relating to the continuing fees or the territory. What is increasingly common internationally is, in fact, the giving of guarantees that certain fundamental items will not be changed under any circumstance.

Other conditions that are sometimes provided for include an obligation on the part of the sub-franchisor to pay a renewal master franchise fee that may be a specific sum or may be based on a formula, and an obligation on the part of the sub-franchisor to require all the sub-franchisees to maintain, renovate and remodel the individual franchise premises they operate. Although these conditions are sometimes included in the master franchise agreement, a number of them, for example the obligation referring to maintenance and renovations, are best left to each individual unit sub-franchise agreement.

#### C. NEGOTIATIONS FOR RENEWAL OF THE AGREEMENT

The remark that customs vary from country to country and from region to region may be considered commonplace, but it is nevertheless relevant. It is therefore important to remember that what is considered to be a good custom in a particular cultural setting may not be appropriate in another. This applies also to the type of provisions that are included in agreements, not the least to those relating to the negotiations for the renewal of the agreement.

# CHAPTER 4 FINANCIAL MATTERS

#### A. WHAT PROVIDES INCOME?

In the final analysis the franchisor, sub-franchisor and sub-franchisees derive income from the sales generated by the franchised units. This income will ultimately have to be shared between all the levels in the system according to their respective contributions and costs. The difference between the income, or selling price of the products and/or services, and the costs constitutes the profits.

Franchise fees, whichever way they are to be calculated, can only be paid if the franchised units are successful. If it is estimated that the profitability of the units to be established in a prospective host country or market would not be sufficient, the question immediately arises of whether the franchise operator would be able to succeed in that market place without substantial restructuring, or even whether it would succeed at all. It cannot to be assumed that margins and profitability will necessarily be the same in each and every market, particularly in view of the large number of potentially variable factors that are involved, such as, for example, product costs, rental and other costs and the existence of competing products and services that affect the pricing structure.

There are two levels to consider in reviewing sources of income in master franchising transactions. The first level is that between the franchisor and the sub-franchisor, the second is that between the sub-franchiser and the sub-franchisees.

#### B. THE SOURCES OF INCOME OF THE FRANCHISOR

#### I. INITIAL MASTER FRANCHISE FEES

One of the most difficult issues that arises in the negotiation of a master franchise agreement is the determination of how much the franchisor should be paid for the rights it grants the sub-franchisor, for the licence to

use the know-how and for the assistance it gives the sub-franchisor to enable it to set up its business in the host country.

There are instances in which unrealistic figures have been agreed, only to create problems for both parties when it became apparent that the sub-franchisor could not make money either at all or sufficiently quickly to justify the high initial cost. This may result in a breakdown of the relationship or in the re-negotiation of the financial provisions. It is sensible to make the effort to agree on a realistic financial structure in the initial negotiations.

There are a number of factors that may be taken into account in the calculation of a proper and equitable level of initial franchise fees to be paid to the franchisor. The degree of importance to be attached to each factor will differ from country to country and will depend upon the practices and structure to be found in the country concerned. These factors are:

- the actual cost to the franchisor of dealing with the sub-franchisor: training, offering assistance in the setting up of the sub-franchisor's business and working to prove that the concept works within the host country;
- the cost and time it would take the sub-franchisor to acquire the requisite know-how and skills to operate and franchise a similar business in its territory;
- the value of the territory as estimated by the franchisor: franchisors tend to calculate the value of a territory by comparing the population numbers of that territory with those of a similar sized area in their own country and by relating the population numbers to what they earned as initial franchise fees for the area in their own country. There is a difference that must be taken into account in making this comparison and that is the fact that in many countries the franchisor's name will be less well known than in those in which it has already established a network. There will therefore be no guarantee that the franchisor's concept and system will operate to the same level of effectiveness. Consequently, there is a risk that such comparisons by franchisors may not produce realistic and economically sound results;
- the estimated total amount of initial franchise fees that the subfranchisor can charge its sub-franchisees in the prospective host country; and

• the fact that the franchisor has developed a system in its own country that has proved to be successful. This has a value, as the experience thus gained should enable the franchisor to swiftly produce an effective business system within the host country. The means to accomplish this are pilot testing and the introduction of any specific variations that may be advisable.

Franchisors based in countries where high initial fees are charged to franchisees tend to have high expectations as to the value of a territory and the estimated total amount of initial franchise fees that they may charge. They may therefore ask for more than may be realistic in the prospective host country.

It is important to emphasise that there are no precise guidelines laying down what fees should be. All fees are negotiated. The different methods used to calculate fees are usually the result of a conscious seeking of a solution to the legal, fiscal and financial issues that arise, as well as of the relative bargaining power of the parties to the negotiations. It may be observed that as it is the sub-franchisor who is in the best position to make a realistic evaluation of the financial possibilities of the system in the territory it has been given the right to develop, it is on the sub-franchisor that the heaviest burden is placed to ensure that the fees it is required to pay are realistic.

Tax considerations and legal issues come into play when the decision of how to structure the fees is taken. There are many innovative ways in which to structure the fees. For example, some franchisors may credit all or part of the initial master franchise fees as prepayment of unit fees. In other words, as each unit is opened the payment which would otherwise be due is reduced by the franchisor applying a "credit" from the amount paid as an initial master franchise fee. Local laws should be taken into careful consideration as they very often have an impact on levels of payment, they may indeed govern the basis upon which payment is made. In countries where there are exchange controls the administering authority may determine the level of payments that it considers to be appropriate regardless of the bargain reached by the parties. This may require the initial fee to be justified by specifying each of the separate elements that make up the fee, so that the nature of each of the payments is clearly identifiable. This may be particularly important in cases where payments for goods and services receive a more favourable treatment. In some countries the intellectual property laws may also have an influence on the intervals at which the fees should be paid, as well as on the amounts that may be charged for the exploitation of the intellectual property rights. Furthermore, exchange control and intellectual property laws may have an influence on the level of continuing fees where payments are to be made to a foreign franchisor.

#### II. CONTINUING FRANCHISE FEES

In addition to initial fees, franchisors in most cases expect to be paid a continuing franchise fee (or royalty) for the use of their name and system and for the provision of ongoing support services. The level of the fees should reflect the cost of providing these ongoing support services.

Franchisors who charge their franchisees in domestic operations a continuing fee amounting to five or six per cent of their revenue will at times propose a three or four per cent continuing fee from a sub-franchisor. That sub-franchisor may not be able to charge its sub-franchisees more than five or six per cent, which is a percentage that might be extremely attractive if the sub-franchisor has no obligation to share its income with the franchisor, but if the sub-franchisor is required to pay the franchisor three or four per cent of the revenues of its sub-franchisees (which is equal to sixty per cent or more of its own revenue) the proposition is doomed to failure. The sub-franchisor has to generate sufficient income to operate its business profitability after paying the continuing franchise fees to the franchisor. In many cases it is difficult to justify the payment of more than between ten and twenty per cent of the sub-franchisor's income from the continuing franchise fees it receives from its sub-franchisees. Every prospective sub-franchisor should prepare a business plan. It is essential for the sub-franchisor carefully to prepare cash-flow and profit forecasts as part of this business plan, so that it is in a position fully to appreciate the impact of the payment of continuing franchise fees on its profitability.

In addition to determining that a certain percentage of the revenue of the sub-franchisees should constitute a continuing fee, there are other methods of calculating fees that may be agreed in particular cases. These include:

- fees related to numbers of products sold;
- fees calculated as a percentage of purchases as opposed to sales;
- fixed fees:

- sliding scales where, for example, there is a charge of X% up to a certain level and thereafter an increasing or decreasing percentage;
- a fixed minimum fee coupled with fees based upon a percentage of gross income;

and

 a fixed maximum fee above which the continuing fees will not rise.

There are franchisors who supply products to sub-franchisors for onward sale to sub-franchisees. These sub-franchisees will charge a mark up on the sale of the products to the consumers. In a significant number of cases there will also be a continuing franchise fee to pay in addition to the product mark up.

### C. THE SOURCES OF INCOME AVAILABLE TO SUB-FRANCHISORS

The ability of the sub-franchisor to make payments to the franchisor will depend upon two factors: the income it is able to generate from its sub-franchisees and that which it is able to generate from the units it operates itself. This income represents the gross income of the sub-franchisor and it is out of this gross income that the sub-franchisor will be required to finance its activities as "franchisor" of the system in its country, to make its payments to the franchisor and to earn a sufficient profit to justify its investment and labour. So as to permit the sub-franchisor to gain sufficient experience in the operation of units and with a view to rendering them as profitable as possible, master franchise agreements will often require sub-franchisors to open units themselves before they sub-franchise.

A sub-franchisor will be able to obtain its income from the sources listed below.

#### I. INITIAL AND CONTINUING FEES

- (i) by charging sub-franchisees an initial fee on entering into the franchise agreement. This fee may be presented to the sub-franchisee in a number of different ways:
  - it may be a fee for joining the franchise network; or

- it may be charged as a mark up on the price for the provision of goods and/or services by the sub-franchisor when the sub-franchisee establishes its business;
- (ii) by receiving on-going income from the sub-franchisee's activities:
  - by making a profit on the sale to the sub-franchisee of the products that are sold by the sub-franchisee in the course of its business, or that are used by the sub-franchisee in the provision of services to its customers;
  - by charging a continuing franchise fee which is calculated as a percentage of the gross income of the sub-franchisee, such as, for example, five percent of the sub-franchisee's gross income. These percentages vary widely depending on the range and nature of the services that the sub-franchisor provides to its sub-franchisees. For a variety of reasons franchisors may furthermore wish to establish the payment of the continuing fees on a sliding scale. It should be observed that although there may be some royalty element in these continuing fees, it is not correct to describe them as royalties, as they invariably are paid in return for services. Royalties are instead normally regarded as passive income for the use of a property right, for instance for the use of copyright material or trademarks. In view of the fact that payment of royalties is likely to be treated differently by tax authorities from payments for services, this source of income needs to be carefully considered and dealt with appropriately in the contractual documents. Whether or not these payments are subject to withholding tax should also be
  - in some franchise systems the continuing franchise fees may be lump sum payments, such as a fixed amount in the local currency, which are not related to the sub-franchisee's gross income. For the sub-franchisee, the advantage of such arrangements is that it knows the precise amount it must pay the sub-franchisor each month (or other relevant period) in respect of continuing franchise fees. The disadvantage is that in the initial period, when the sub-franchisee is seeking to establish its business, the fixed fee may represent too large a percentage of its income. From the sub-franchisor's point of view the disadvantages are that the fixed fee is not protected from inflation and that the sub-franchisor might therefore have to continue to provide the range of services for

which it has contracted with the financial compensation it receives in return decreasing in value. Furthermore, its income will not increase as sub-franchisees become more successful and increase their gross incomes and it will find it difficult to expand and improve the range of services that it provides.<sup>1</sup>

(iii) If the franchise is a product based franchise, the franchisor may:

- manufacture the products to be sold by the sub-franchisees;
- have the products manufactured under its trademarks by a third party; or
- secure product supplies for the network from other sources.

Income may be generated in two possible ways when products are involved: by product mark ups and as payments from producers or suppliers in the form of rebates, discounts or commissions.

#### II. PRODUCT MARK UPS

Mark ups may be defined as an increase in the sales price of the products which is made by adding overhead expenses and a certain margin of profit to the costs. Manufacturers and wholesalers will normally charge on the basis of mark ups and in many instances the franchisor and/or the sub-franchisor have the role of manufacturer and/or wholesaler. The franchisor, whether manufacturer or wholesaler, may thus "mark up" the products to provide an income. The sub-franchisor will in turn mark up the price at which it sells the products to the sub-franchisees and the subfranchisees may mark up the product for resale to the consumer, in order to provide the necessary gross margins that are the foundation of the subfranchisee's profitable activities. It is the possibility of variation in the mark ups made by the franchisor and the sub-franchisor which can have an impact on the financial capabilities of the sub-franchisee. The same applies to other equipment that is necessary for the operation of the franchise and is supplied by the franchisor. It is therefore necessary to ensure that the sub-franchisee is protected against unreasonable price increases that would affect its ability to operate with sufficient profitability to meet all its commitments and to earn enough for itself.

See Chapter 9 "Supply of Equipment, Products and Services".

In the context of the sale of products and mark ups the possibility of a conflict with competition law regulations should be considered, as the applicable competition law may limit the right of the franchisor to require that specific products be acquired. If this right is limited, also the possibility of gaining on mark ups might be affected.

In the early days of a franchise system the initial fee payments provide a significant proportion of the franchisor's income. This proportion may gradually be reduced, as the network grows and as the continuing franchise fees paid by a growing number of franchisees produces an increasingly significant flow of income. This occurs because the volume of initial fees is related to the number of units that are opened and as the network grows the rate at which units are opened tends to slow down.

In countries where there are high levels of import duties the impact of these duties can be exaggerated when the total gross price (including the "mark up") is subjected to them. This may have the effect of removing any competitive advantage that the products might otherwise enjoy with respect to price.

There may be special arrangements made in respect of visits by the franchisor to the country. There may, for example, be a provision in the contract requiring the franchisor to make one or more visits a year, which may be included in the fees paid. Agreement may also be reached on who should bear the cost of such visits, or alternatively the cost may be shared.

#### III. PAYMENTS FROM PRODUCERS OR SUPPLIERS

A franchisor may not be able to manufacture the products that it has designed or of which it has determined the specifications. It may therefore licence a manufacturer to produce the products that it will supply to the sub-franchisors and through them to the sub-franchisees. It is not uncommon for the manufacturer to pay a licence fee to the franchisor for the right to manufacture these products. Here again, competition law aspects need to be considered.

Manufacturers and suppliers may also pay over-riders or retrospective rebates. These are volume related discounts that are to be paid when agreed volume purchase levels are reached. It is a method of providing a benefit for bulk purchasing and the issue that may arise is who should have

a right to these discounts. There are franchisors and sub-franchisors who would claim this right, but sub-franchisees would also contend that these benefits should be made available to them, as it is their efforts in aggregate in achieving sales that give rise to the payments. If the franchisor or the sub-franchisor arrange to receive these payments for their benefit, they should not make a secret of it but should disclose it to the sub-franchisees. Any operative franchise disclosure law, as well as applicable competition law, should be examined in this context to determine whether or not such a relationship is covered by this legislation. In addition to offering these benefits, manufacturers and suppliers will sometimes contribute to advertising, marketing and promotional activities, both nationally and at the different points of sale.<sup>2</sup>

The situation is somewhat different in the case of service franchises, as this involvement in product supply, with its capacity to generate income, would not be available to the same degree, although there might be some products that need to be supplied in the course of the provision of a service.

#### D. CALCULATION OF PAYMENTS AND PROCEDURES

The method adopted for the actual making of the payment of continuing fees should be in line with the way in which the sub-franchisor deals with its sub-franchisees. If, for example, the sub-franchisees pay their fees by the tenth day of every month, an obligation placed on the sub-franchisor to make payments at the same time and in respect of the same period would be impossible for it to meet. A sub-franchisor will need the time to collect the information and the funds to enable it to make the required reports and accounting to the franchisor. The payment periods and accounting periods at both levels must take this essentially practical issue into account.

Another issue that frequently arises is whether the sub-franchisor should be obliged to pay franchise fees to the franchisor even if it has not been paid by its sub-franchisees. This is an issue for negotiation between the parties, but the franchisor may be reluctant to share the sub-franchisor's

See Chapter 8 "Advertising and the Control of Advertising".

credit risks. It is usual for a provision to be included in the contract requiring the sub-franchisor to ensure that sub-franchisees observe and perform the terms of the sub-franchise agreements. The existence of such a provision would mean that failure on the part of the sub-franchisor to collect fees and financial reports would be a breach of contract. Although the inclusion of such a provision might seem unduly harsh on the subfranchisor, the importance for the whole network of the sub-franchisor properly supervising its sub-franchisees and ensuring that they fulfil their obligations cannot be stressed too much. It is only if all the members of the network observe the required standards, for example as regards the quality of the product or service that they offer, that the reputation of the whole network is maintained. In financial terms, a defaulting and non-paying subfranchisee will invariably not only not be paying fees, it will probably not be submitting returns of sales, which in turn will make it impossible to know what should be remitted. It is therefore important to deal with these issues in the agreement.

Allowance must be made for delays in the banking system, as payments sometimes take an inordinate time to travel from bank A in country X to bank B in country Y. Despite the existence of electronic systems that provide instant transfers, banks cannot be relied upon to use the fastest method of transmission of funds and the agreement should specify the method to be used. Some franchisors open a bank account within the territory concerned, so as to enable them to receive payment promptly.

The franchisor will invariably stipulate the currency in which payment is to be made. Franchisors usually prefer payment in their own currency, although a third currency will sometimes be agreed upon. It is necessary to establish in the agreement a date for conversion and it is also sensible to identify which bank's quoted rate will be used for conversion on the date of payment, as well as who should bear the cost of the conversion and of the transfer. The agreement should also establish the alternative action to be taken if the currency conversion cannot take place as a result of exchange controls. In view of the long-term nature of master franchise agreements, provisions are often inserted into the agreement to allow for the possibility that exchange controls may be introduced in the future. A

drastic solution which is at times envisaged in agreements is a reservation of the right to terminate on the part of the franchisor if currency restrictions are imposed and payments cannot be made. Where exchange control permission is required it should be ascertained whether it is the franchisor or the sub-franchisor who has the responsibility to make the application. In any event, both parties should agree to co-operate in any application that is to be made.

#### E. FISCAL CONSIDERATIONS

The agreement should deal with the way in which payments will be treated and characterised for tax purposes in both the franchisor's country and the host country. It is by no means certain that the initial fee will be regarded as free of withholding tax by the taxation authorities of the country of payment. The franchisor could therefore find that the initial fee is subject to withholding tax. Furthermore, the definition of "royalty payments" should be examined. Any double taxation treaty should be taken into consideration to ensure that the franchisor may, if it so wishes, receive payments free of withholding tax. The agreement should enable the franchisor to obtain the benefit of any double taxation treaty by ensuring that the evidence of payment in the host country is provided in the form required for the relief to be claimed. Any applicable double taxation treaty should be examined for its full effect on the fiscal consequences of the transaction and on the way in which it is structured. Franchisees should seek to avoid being liable for the payment of tax more than once for any one payment. Another risk that the franchisor may run is that the payment of franchise fees may be considered by the law of the host country as a business activity of the franchisor in that country.

Some franchisors insert what are known as "grossing-up" provisions in their contracts. These provide that if tax is deductible, effectively it has to be borne by the sub-franchisor who must increase its payment to the franchisor so that the franchisor receives net the amount it would have received had there been no tax deduction. The effect of such provisions is to increase the level of fees payable by the sub-franchisor, as it is effectively paying the franchisor's tax liability on the payments that are remitted to it. This cost is not recoverable from the franchise network. The sub-

franchisor should check its projections and cash-flow forecasts if it feels obliged to accept such a provision, so as to ensure that the additional burden does not make the financial proposition unacceptable.

Finally, it should be noted that the laws of some countries will impose a withholding tax on advertising fees paid by a sub-franchisor to a foreign franchisor. In such cases the franchisor will experience no serious consequences when, as often occurs, the laws of the country in which the franchisor is receiving such remittances provide for a foreign tax credit for the amount of the foreign withholding. There will only be a problem if the franchisor is not able to obtain a tax credit in its own country. If it is unable to do so, the effect will be to reduce the funds available for advertising expenditure.<sup>3</sup>

It should also be noted that some of the payments may be regarded as capital and others as revenue for tax purposes and their separate identification may assist in dealings with the tax authorities.

See Chapter 8, Section C "Financial Considerations", which includes the treatment of advertising fees or contributions.